3412

PNL-6087 UC-70

Evaluation and Status Report on HYDROCOIN at Midway

C. R. Cole

December 1986

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC06-76RLO 1830

Pacific Northwest Laboratory Operated for the U.S. Department of Energy by Battelle Memorial Institute

DISCLAIMER

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, nor Battelle Memorial Institute, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government of any agency thereof, or Battelle Memorial Institute. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarly state or reflect those of the United States Government or any agency thereof, or Battelle Memorial Institute.

PACIFIC NORTHWEST LABORATORY operated by BATTELLE for the UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF ENERGY under Contract DE-AC06-76RLO 1830

Printed in the United States of America Available from National Technical Information Service United States Department of Commerce S285 Port Royal Road Springfield, Virginia 22161

NTIS Price Codes Microfiche A01

Printed Copy

	FINCE
Pages	Codes
001-025	A02
026-050	A03
051-075	A04
076-100	A05
101-125	A06
126-150	A07
151-175	A06
176-200	A09
201-225	A010
226-250	A011
251-275	A012
276-300	A013

PNL-6087 UC-70

EVALUATION AND STATUS REPORT ON HYDROCOIN AT MIDWAY (HYDROCOIN .. an international project for studying groundwater hydrology modelling strategies)

C. R. Cole

-

.

December 1986

Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under Contract DE-AC06-76RL0 1830

Pacific Northwest Laboratory Richland, Washington 99352

SUMMARY

The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is participating in the international hydrologic code intercomparison (HYDROCOIN) project organized by the Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) for the purpose of improving our knowledge about the influence of various strategies for ground-water flow modeling for the safety assessment of final repositories for nuclear waste. The HYDROCOIN project consists of three levels of effort: Level One is concerned with verifying the numerical accuracy of codes, Level Two is involved with validation of models using field experiments, and Level Three is concerned with sensitivity and uncertainty analysis.

The need for the HYDROCOIN project emerged from an earlier international study for the intercomparison of computer codes for radionuclide transport (INTRACOIN). The HYDROCOIN project began in May 1984 with a group of fourteen organizations from eleven countries participating; currently twenty organizations are involved. Five teams from DOE's Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) are participating in the HYDROCOIN project, and this document presents the results of a review of this participation and an analysis of the benefits of OCRWM participation in the first 2 years (i.e., through May 1986) of the 3-year HYDROCOIN project. Efforts on the seven Level One cases are nearly complete. Level Two problems have been formulated and are in final draft form, and Level Three problems have been identified and are in first draft form.

This report details the motivation, need, and benefits from HYDROCOIN through a 1) chronological synopsis of the project's progress to date, 2) brief description and intercomparison of preliminary Level One results prepared by OCRWM participants, and 3) discussion of OCRWM contributions and plans for HYDROCOIN Level Two and Three efforts.

The important national and international need for verified and validated performance-assessment technology to judge the safety, suitability, and acceptability of various underground nuclear waste disposal options has provided the basic area of common interest for the earlier INTRACOIN and current HYDROCOIN efforts. With the most likely route for disposed radionuclides to return to

iii

the biosphere being through dissolution and transport by ground waters, the performance-assessment technology required for evaluating geologic disposal options and sites will include ground-water flow modeling. This complicated process involves using computer codes in conjunction with site characterization data and an interpretation process known as conceptual modeling. The importance of these codes and the ground-water modeling process to performance assessment requires 1) benchmarking and verifying the codes, 2) evaluating and demonstrating the applicability of the modeling process for describing the results of experiments at both the laboratory and field scales (validation), and 3) investigating and evaluating various methods and approaches for determining the importance of different phenomena and parameters (sensitivity analysis) and for establishing the uncertainties associated with the performance assessments obtained through this modeling process for both current and future conditions (uncertainty analysis). The three levels of the HYDROCOIN project address these important ground-water modeling issues.

Benefits of participating in HYDROCOIN Level One (verification and benchmarking) have included the following:

- insight and experience in the difficult process of formulation and selection of relevant verification and benchmark problems which will prove of value as part of four OCRWM Office of Geologic Repository (OGR) projects' ongoing verification and benchmarking efforts. The Salt Repository Project's (SRP) layered salt benchmark problem (Case
 6) has been improved. Case 4 has proved to be a useful verification problem for all the project teams by providing one of the only analytical solutions involving buoyancy as well as a test for pathlines. Case 5 has provided SRP with an important salt site benchmark problem for testing the ability of codes for handling variable density problems with very steep concentration gradients. Cases 1 and 2 provide useful equivalent porous-media fracture-flow problems.
- a means for code intercomparison for complex benchmark problems where no analytical solution exists to provide the correct result. Through HYDROCOIN, results are available from a variety of codes representing various numerical approaches taken by independent modeling teams.

Case 5 was of particular benefit to SRP because it illustrated a difficulty with standard finite element approaches for density-dependent problems. As a result, the consistent velocity formulation used in the two-dimensional SUTRA code (Voss 1984) was incorporated into SRP's code. Cases 2, 4, and 7 have provided beneficial information concerning discretization strategy and various mass balance and residuals methodologies. Code intercomparisons indicated common difficulties associated with the interpolation of results between nodes and with the generation of path- and streamlines. Identification of these difficulties has resulted in code improvements and problems for Level Three to resolve the source of these difficulties.

- a unique organizational structure for code verification and benchmarking. The HYDROCOIN organization and structure draws from a wide variety of capable participants with enough diversity in interests and needs that appropriate problems of mutual interest can be and have been formulated and selected. Additionally, sufficient participation with an ample variety in code types in each of the Level One cases has given this effort the required credibility. While this set of HYDROCOIN benchmarks does not satisfy all of the needs of any of the OGR projects, it does provide a base level of key verification and benchmarking credibility. It also identifies codes against which future benchmark comparisons would be especially beneficial.
- a means for development of code credibility and a forum for the exchange of technical information on ground-water modeling strategies. The wide variety of participating groups, which includes regulatory agencies, universities, and consultants as well as other peer groups from various countries, provides a measure of credibility to the HYDROCOIN benchmarking effort that would be hard for DOE to achieve otherwise. The unique HYDROCOIN organizational structure and the diversity of participants and interests in conjunction with the focus provided by a common set of modeling problems also provide an excellent forum for technical exchange and a means for OCRWM

participants to present and compare their performance-assessment approaches with those being used by their peers.

Participation in the early planning and discussion stages of Level Two has provided useful insights regarding the difficulties associated with validation. Both the Nevada Nuclear Waste Storage Investigations (NNWSI) Project and SRP have formulated Level Three sensitivity uncertainty problems that will provide direct benefits to their projects. Given the relative difficulty of the issues addressed by Levels Two and Three, the potential benefits of participation are even greater than they were for Level One. Maximum benefits come from full and consistent participation by the project teams in the workshops and coordinating group meetings. The value of the HYDROCOIN workshops and coordinating group meetings is related to the quality of the technical discussions, the openness and sharing of successful new ideas and approaches, and more importantly the candid discussions of failures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work, performed by Pacific Northwest Laboratory as part of the Performance Assessment Scientific Support (PASS) program, was supported by the U.S. Department of Energy's Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM), under Contract DE-ACO6-76RLO 1830. Pacific Northwest Laboratory is operated by Battelle Memorial Institute for the U.S Department of Energy. I would also like to acknowledge the participation and efforts OCRWM's four Office of Geologic Repositories (OGR) project teams whose work has been discussed and compared in this report. These project teams and team leaders include:

- The Basalt Waste Isolation Project (BWIP), Peter M. Clifton
- The Crystalline Rock Project (CRP), A. Berge Gureghian
- The Nevada Nuclear Waste Storage Investigations (NNWSI) project, Robert W. Prindle
- The Salt Repository Project (SRP), Sumant K. Gupta

CONTENTS

i.

SUMMARY	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
INTRODUCTION	1
HYDROCOIN - MOTIVATION, NEED, AND APPLICATION TO OCRWM ACTIVITIES	3
SYNOPSIS OF HYDROCOIN PROJECT PROGRESS	5
FIRST WORKSHOP	5
SECOND WORKSHOP AND ADJUNCT SYMPOSIUM	9
THIRD WORKSHOP	13
BRIEF DESCRIPTION AND INTERCOMPARISON OF OCRWM PROJECT RESULTS FOR LEVEL ONE	25
CASE 1: TRANSIENT FLOW FROM A BOREHOLE IN A FRACTURED PERMEABLE MEDIUM	25
CASE 2: STEADY-STATE FLOW IN A ROCK MASS INTERSECTED BY PERMEABLE FRACTURE ZONES	29
CASE 3: SATURATED-UNSATURATED FLOW THROUGH A LAYERED SEQUENCE OF SEDIMENTARY ROCKS	37
CASE 4: TRANSIENT THERMAL CONVECTION IN A SATURATED PERMEABLE MEDIUM	38
CASE 5: SALT WATER DISTRIBUTION IN A SATURATED POROUS MEDIUM	46
CASE 6: THREE-DIMENSIONAL STEADY-STATE FLOW IN A REGIONAL AQUIFER	51
CASE 7: TWO-DIMENSIONAL FLOW THROUGH A SHALLOW LAND DISPOSAL FACILITY IN ARGILLACEOUS MEDIA	54
DISCUSSION OF RESULTS FROM LEVEL ONE AND PLANS FOR LEVELS TWO AND THREE	57
LEVEL ONE	57
LEVELS TWO AND THREE	60
REFERENCES	61
APPENDIX A - DESCRIPTION OF THE HYDROCOIN ORGANIZATION	A-1

APPENDIX B - A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE SEVEN HYDROCOIN LEVEL ONE PROBLEMS ON VERIFICATION AND BENCHMARKING B-1

•-

•

.

٠

.

FIGURES

••

* 2

1	A Comparison of BWIP, CRP, and SRP Results for Relative Head as a Function of Time at the Interface Between the Rock Matrix and Fracture	27
2	A Comparison of BWIP, CRP, and SRP Results for Relative Head in the Rock Matrix as a Function of Radial Distance from the Borehole	27
3	A Typical Case 1 Finite Element Grid Mesh	28
4	CRP Results for Time-Dependent Relative Flow Rate from the Bore- hole into the Rock Matrix as a Function of Time	29
5	SRP Results for Time-Dependent Relative Flow Rate from the Bore- hole into the Fracture as a Function of Time for the High Trans- missivity Optional Calculations	30
6	Comparison of BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculated Potentials Versus x-Location at a Elevation of -800 m for Their Finest Grids	32
7	CRP Results Illustrating Solution Convergence as a Function of Increased Spatial Resolution	32
8	Fine-Grid Potential Contours Calculated by BWIP	33
9	Comparison of Streamline Trajectories for the Finest Grids Calculated by CRP, NNWSI, and SRP	34
10	CRP's Finest Finite Element Grid, Illustrating the Use of Narrow Elements for Boundary Condition Implementation	35
11	CRP Results Illustrating Solution Convergence as a Function of Increased Spatial Resolution	36
12	A Comparison of NNWSI Calculated Steady-State Water Table Location With Results Presented by Grundfelt (1984)	37
13	The Radial Grid Utilized by SRP for Case 4	39
14	Contour Maps of SRP Temperature Results for Case 4 at a Time of a 100 Years With Equally Spaced Temperature Contours of 10°C	40
15	Contour Map of Dynamic Pressure Results for Case 4 at a Time of 100 Years With Dynamic Pressure Contour Spacing of 2000 Pascals	41

16	Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Temperature Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of 0 m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years	42
17	Comparison of BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Temperature Versus Time at Vertical Distances of 0, 125, 250, and 375 m and at a Radius of 0 m	43
18	Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Dynamic Pressure Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of 0 m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years	43
19	Closer Comparison Between CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Dynamic Pressure Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of 0 m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years	44
20	Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Pressure Versus Time for Vertical Distances of 125, 250, and 375 m at a Radius of 0 m	44
21	Closer Comparison Between CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Pressure Versus Time for Vertical Distances of 125, 250, and 375 m at a Radius of 0 m	45
22	CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculated Pathline Trajectories and the Analytical Solution for Three Pathlines Initiated at a Time of 100 Years From Locations $r = 0$ m and for $z = 0$, 125, and 250 m	45
23	SRP-Calculated Steady-State, Salt Concentration Contours for Level One, Case 5	47
24	SRP's Calculated Trajectories for the Five Level One, Case 5 Streamlines	48
25	Velocity Vector Plot Calculated by SRP for Level One, Case 5	48
26	The Initial SRP Solution for Level One, Case 5 Calculated Without the Consistent Velocity Interpolation Scheme	49
27	An Isometric View of the Finite Element Grid Mesh Used by SRP for Level One, Case 6	52
28	Contour Map of the Level One, Case 6 Potentials Calculated by SRP with the FE3DGW Code Along a Vertical Cross-Section on the Southern Problem Boundary	53
29	Contour Map of Calculated Potentials for the Low-Permeability Concrete Variation	55
30	Calculated Streamline Trajectories for the Twelve Streamlines Specified in the Level One, Case 7 Problem Definition	55

TABLES

1 1

1	Status of Recommendations Concerning Proposed HYDROCOIN Level Two Cases at the Close of the Third Workshop	18
2	Summary of HYDROCOIN Level Three Problems	22

.

.

•

.

INTRODUCTION

The U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) is participating in an international study for hydrologic code intercomparison (HYDROCOIN). This study is organized by the Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) with participation by the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development's Nuclear Energy Agency (OECD/NEA). The purpose of the HYDROCOIN project is to improve our knowledge about the influence of various strategies for ground-water flow modeling for the safety assessment of final repositories for nuclear waste. HYDROCOIN is a 3-year project consisting of three levels of effort with the following objectives:

- Level One is concerned with verifying the numerical accuracy of codes by code intercomparison and by comparing code results with analytical solutions.
- Level Two is an approach to model validation consisting of comparisons of model predictions with available experimental results.
- Level Three investigates the importance of uncertainties inherent to the modeling and site characterization process through sensitivity and uncertainty studies.

The need for the HYDROCOIN project emerged from an earlier international study for the intercomparison of computer codes for radionuclide transport (INTRACOIN). This study was initiated by SKI in 1981 and concluded in 1984. In May of that year the international HYDROCOIN project began. It was originally composed of a study group of fourteen organizations from eleven countries (Canada, France, Federal Republic of Germany, Finland, Japan, the Netherlands, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States). Currently, twenty organizations are participating in the HYDROCOIN project. Appendix A contains a more detailed description of the HYDROCOIN organization, taken from the latest progress report (SKI 1986).

Five teams from DOE's Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management (OCRWM) are participating in the HYDROCOIN project. These teams and their respective team leaders are as follows:

- The Basalt Waste Isolation Project (BWIP), Peter M. Clifton
- The Crystalline Rock Project (CRP), A. Berge Gureghian
- The Nevada Nuclear Waste Storage Investigations (NNWSI) project, Robert W. Prindle
- The Salt Repository Project (SRP), Sumant K. Gupta
- The Performance Assessment Scientific Support (PASS) program, Charles R. Cole.

C. R. Cole of the PASS program is coordinating DOE's OCRWM participation in HYDROCOIN and is the DOE's representative to the Coordinating Group that directs the HYDROCOIN study.

The purpose of this document is to review and report on the status of DOE's OCRWM participation in the first 1.5 years of the 3-year HYDROCOIN project. Level One efforts are nearing completion (a draft of the Level One report was made available at the May 1986 workshop held in Tokai, Japan). Level Two problems have been formulated and are in final draft form, and Level Three problems have been identified and are in first draft form.

Detailed progress reports on the overall HYDROCOIN project (SKI 1984, 1985, 1986) are available. The first section of this report details the motivation, need, and perceived benefits from HYDROCOIN. A chronological synopsis of the project's progress to date follows, with discussions focused on contributions made by the OCRWM participants to the HYDROCOIN Level One, Two, and Three efforts. The next section of the report presents a brief description and intercomparison of the preliminary Level One results prepared by OCRWM participants. The final section is an analysis of the specific benefits that have resulted from DOE's participation by OCRWM's four Office of Geologic Repositories (OGR) projects and its PASS program in Level One efforts. Plans for continued involvement in Levels Two and Three along with an analysis of potential benefits are also described.

HYDROCOIN - MOTIVATION, NEED, AND APPLICATION TO OCRWM ACTIVITIES

Nuclear waste management is an important national and international concern that has fostered various successful international cooperative programs. As experience has shown, these cooperative efforts are successful when common technical interests and needs bring the parties together because of the perceived and real benefits obtainable from the exchange (Rusche 1986). The important national and international need for verified and validated performance-assessment technology to judge the safety, suitability, and acceptability of various underground nuclear waste disposal options has provided the basic area of common interest for the earlier INTRACOIN and current HYDROCOIN efforts.

The most likely route for disposed radionuclides to return to the biosphere is through dissolution and transport by flowing ground waters. As a result, performance assessments for evaluating geologic disposal options and sites will require ground-water flow modeling. This complicated process involves using computer codes in conjunction with site characterization data and an interpretation process known as conceptual modeling. The importance of these codes and the ground-water modeling process to performance assessment requires that we:

 develop, test, and demonstrate a methodology for checking the numerical accuracy of these codes over the ranges of parameters, kinds of geometries, and types of boundary conditions, and for the various phenomena and interactions likely to be encountered in repository safety assessments. The parts of this process that involve comparing numerical code results with analytical solutions are commonly referred to as verification, and the parts that can only be achieved via code intercomparisons are referred to as benchmarking. The obvious benefit of exchange is in the area of benchmarking, since it requires intercomparison of code results on common problems. Additional areas that benefit from exchange include selecting and formulating appropriate verification and realistic benchmarking problems,

and investigating the means for evaluating and comparing these code results for the more realistic benchmarking problems.

- evaluate and demonstrate the applicability of the modeling process for describing the results of experiments at both the laboratory and field scales (validation). Earlier INTRACOIN project efforts indicated that many field situations, especially at larger scales, allow too many interpretations for validation in the traditional sense. As a result, at least two aspects of validation must be addressed. One aspect involves selecting sufficiently complete data sets and welldefined experiments at either the lab or the field scale that can be used to validate, in the traditional sense, our mathematical description of the physical processes involved in ground-water hydrology. A second aspect involves building confidence in the total ground-water modeling process described above. Relevant hydrologic experiments will be selected whose data sets are incomplete. Confidence in the way data are interpreted and codes are applied to assess performance is then generated by the application of codes through the groundwater modeling process by the various project teams.
- investigate and evaluate various methods and approaches for determining the importance of different phenomena and parameters (sensitivity analysis), and for establishing the uncertainties associated with the performance assessments obtained through this modeling process for both current and future conditions (uncertainty analysis).

OCRWM has ongoing efforts that address these important areas of performance assessment at each of their four OGR projects and the PASS program, as do other nations investigating geologic disposal. Issue complexity and the perceived benefit of a cooperative effort (inferred from the success and benefits of the earlier and similar INTRACOIN project) fostered the current HYDROCOIN project for addressing and improving our collective knowledge concerning these three issues.

SYNOPSIS OF HYDROCOIN PROJECT PROGRESS

FIRST WORKSHOP

The HYDROCOIN project began in May 1984. The first workshop and coordinating group meeting, hosted by SKI, was held in Stockholm, Sweden, on 22-25 October 1984. O. Hormander of SKI opened the meeting with some enlightening perspectives that captured the essence, need, and importance of HYDROCOIN. His opening remarks included some disturbing findings from the Swedish Nuclear Fuel Supply Company's report on the final storage of spent nuclear fuel: "It is disturbing that we don't know how good our barriers are. As a result we must use conservative values. Sensitivity studies [I assume he also meant uncertainty studies] are crucial to the program. In the INTRACOIN effort, matrix diffusion appeared as an important phenomenon. HYDROCOIN has to cope with the difficulties of dealing with water movement in low permeability rock, which may be a difficult task for mathematical models. We must find out how to model this phenomenon and how good these models are. This is a difficult problem that can benefit from interactions between scientists and researchers around the world."

Seven proposed Level One cases had been formulated by the HYDROCOIN project secretariat and distributed before the meeting so that project teams could review the proposals and begin preliminary simulation efforts. Each of the HYDROCOIN project teams made presentations concerning

- the codes they would be using
- pre- and postprocessing packages, which are important to the understanding of the analysis and presentation of hydrologic code results
- preliminary Level One (verification and benchmark) results
- proposed Level Two data sets, ideas on the scope and needs for HYDROCOIN Levels Two and Three, and proposals for additions and/or modification to the Level One verification and benchmark problems.

Twelve HYDROCOIN project teams each worked on at least one of the seven Level One problems before the first workshop. The BWIP team presented results for Cases 1, 2, and 4; the SRP team presented results for Cases 1 and 2. Formulation of well-defined meaningful benchmark problems is a difficult process that is benefited when preliminary testing is done by those not originally involved with formulation. Ambiguities can be discovered and resolved early by this preliminary testing, which allows the problem definition to be improved before all project teams spend time devising their own, typically different, resolutions.

The seven Level One cases that were presented and discussed at the first workshop follow. A brief description of their status after the workshop is also given.

- Case 1 -- transient flow from a borehole in a fractured permeable medium. Eight project teams including BWIP and SRP presented preliminary results that indicated the problem was well formulated. Some variations were suggested (e.g., considering flux into the matrix and fractures; additional permeability contrasts).
- Case 2 -- steady-state flow in a rock mass intersected by fracture zones. Eleven project teams, including BWIP and SRP, presented preliminary results. There were some discrepancies probably related to the interpretation scheme (quadratic vs. linear) used. Some variations were suggested as desirable (e.g., considering potential plots, streamlines and travel times, flows, mass balance and/or error analysis, and parameter variations to differentiate the split between matrix and fracture dominance). The secretariat was charged with specifying streamline starting locations and mass balance measures.
- Case 3 -- saturated-unsaturated flow in a layered sequence of rocks. Five project teams presented preliminary results. This problem posed difficulties for all project teams because of ambiguities concerning initial and boundary conditions and unrealistic characteristic curves for relative permeability and capillary pressure versus saturation. The NNWSI project

6

team was charged with reformulating more realistic curves and with posing a simpler one-dimensional problem with the new characteristic curves.

- Case 4 -- thermal convection in a saturated permeable medium. Three project teams, including BWIP, presented preliminary results. The problem definition was to be expanded by the secretariat to include pathlines and distributed before the next workshop.
- Case 5 -- steady-state flow in a hypothetical basalt basin. No project teams presented preliminary results. This case was rejected at the first workshop and replaced by a very interesting and important variable-density problem dealing with salt plumes around a salt dome formulated by the Technical University of Berlin (TUB) project team.
- Case 6 -- steady-state flow from a hypothetical bedded-salt repository. Two project teams presented preliminary results. This case was also rejected at the first workshop and replaced with an SRP-formulated benchmark problem for bedded salt. The SRP project team presented this case formally, distributed a handout, and discussed preliminary results using two different codes. It was suggested that this problem could also serve as a base problem for extension to Level Three for sensitivity and uncertainty calculations.
- Case 7 -- saturated two-dimensional flow through a shallow land disposal facility in argillaceous media. One project team presented preliminary results.

Appendix B contains a brief description of the seven HYDROCOIN Level One verification (Cases 1 and 4) and benchmark (Cases 2, 3, 5, 6, and 7) problems.

Discussions and proposals for Level Two were limited, and Level Three was discussed briefly. Understanding "validation" was the central issue in the Level Two discussions. Should a validation data set and problem only test the validity of the equations we use to represent the physics and thus be limited to well-characterized systems? Or should validation data sets and problems be

a test of the entire modeling process? If the latter were the case, then validation data sets should include more realistic data sets and problems where the incomplete nature of the system characterization efforts results in uncertainty in the following factors: the conceptual model, the spatial-temporal distributions of system parameters and system responses, and the uncertainty in the equations we use to describe the various phenomena and their interactions. HYDROCOIN was challenged to assess how far we can go in the quantification of validity for any real site, given the spatial and time scales of interest and the inherent uncertainty that is likely to exist in site characterization and conceptual model formulation. The PASS program team suggested that all Level Two problem formulations for HYDROCOIN be required to identify

 the particular aspect of validation the data set and proposed problem addresses

2. the method or measure for judging when or if validation is achieved.

Additional concerns over the level of effort that might be required for some of the proposed validation problems, particularly the more realistic ones, prompted the additional requirement that

3. the proposal for a validation data set and problem include an estimate of the level of effort involved in undertaking the validation problem, as well as an outline or proposed approach to this problem consistent with obtaining the validation goals.

A. Larsson of SKI and chairman of the HYDROCOIN Coordinating Group indicated that every project team would not need to do every problem, given the level of effort and the fact that baselined codes would be used. A variety of Level Two data sets were presented for initial consideration, but only a data set on the Cornish granite heater experiment proposed by the United Kingdom was adopted as a Level Two problem.

The brief discussions dealing with Level Three involved expanding the Level Three effort to include both uncertainty and sensitivity. The regional benchmark problem (Level One, Case 6) presented by SRP was suggested for use in an expanded form as one of the sensitivity problems for the Level Three effort. This problem expansion could be used to determine the sensitivity of the

results to the inclusion of repository heating and brine flow as well as parameter variations and heterogeneity. These discussions emphasized the need for the Level Three efforts to deal with the question of uncertainty and various approaches for the quantification of uncertainty as well as parameter and phenomena sensitivity.

An important feature of the earlier INTRACOIN project, promoting interchange and understanding between the experimentalists and modelers, has been continued into the HYDROCOIN project. A field trip to the Stripa mine was scheduled by SKI. Stripa has been the site of underground experiments important to nuclear waste disposal since the Swedish American Co-operative Program, which took place between 1977 and 1980. Phase I and Phase II of the current International Stripa Project are located at the site, under the auspices of the OECD/NEA. The various Stripa experiments were explained during the field trip, and the underground sites of the experimental setups were visited. This was a very informative and worthwhile experience. Most modelers, who rarely become involved with the actual experiments, benefited greatly from observing the real scale of the experiments and the rock itself.

SECOND WORKSHOP AND ADJUNCT SYMPOSIUM

Both DOE and NRC hosted the second HYDROCOIN Workshop 15-18 May 1985 and a Coordinating Group Meeting on 22 May 1985. During 20-21 May 1985 they also cosponsored an adjunct symposium titled "Symposium on Groundwater Flow and Transport Modeling for Performance Assessment of Deep Geologic Disposal of Radioactive Waste: A Critical Evaluation of the State of the Art." All three meetings were held in Albuquerque, New Mexico.

Twenty-six people from seven countries participated in the HYDROCOIN field trip to the Waste Isolation Pilot Project (WIPP) facilities (19 May 1985) organized by SNL and DOE-Carlsbad. The field trip included presentations and underground tours of the heater, thermal-mechanical, waste package, and hydrologic experiments.

Tom Nicholson of the NRC and C. R. Cole from the PASS program were the technical organizers and cochairpersons for the joint DOE/NRC technical symposium. The contributions of the symposium's two invited guests,

Dr. Thomas Pigford of the University of California at Berkeley and Dr. Shlomo P. Neuman of the University of Arizona, helped ensure the success of the symposium. Proceedings of the joint symposium have now been published (PNL 1986). This document includes 26 presentations and a transcribed discussion session moderated by Dr. Neuman. Appendix C contains the table of contents for these proceedings.

Eighteen presentations on Level One results were made at the second workshop by the various HYDROCOIN project teams, including all four DOE OGR project teams. In the 6 months since the first workshop, the following actions had been taken: the NNWSI team formulated a Case 3a one-dimensional problem, which eventually became a Level Three problem; the secretariat added pathline computations to Case 4; Case 5 was reformulated by the TUB team; and the SRP team completed formulation of the Level One, Case 6 problem. These new problem formulations were distributed to the participants by the secretariat. In total, 55 Level One calculations were reported by the various project teams by the end of this second workshop and indications were that 20 additional calculational efforts were under way. All completed Level One cases had been solved by a minimum of five different project teams and codes. No further modifications of the Level One problems were made or recommended at the second workshop. Responses to the challenges of the Level One problems have been positive and have motivated changes and improvements in project codes (particularly pre- and postprocessing routines), pathline-streamline algorithms, and density-dependent flow.

Two presentations were made on preliminary Level Two results for thermal convection and conduction around the Cornish heater experiment. These two preliminary efforts indicated a need for information on the natural pressure gradient around the heater.

The following proposals for Level Two problems were made:

 a laboratory thermal convection experiment in a medium consisting of glass beads (by BWIP and PASS)

- a model calibration type of validation problem for a data set for a fractured monzonitic gneiss block at Chalk River, Canada (by the Canadian team)
- an unsaturated flow problem involving drainage for an extensive data set obtained in near-surface loams of central valley California (by NRC)
- a hot-water injection experiment that had been performed at Auburn University during 1979-1983 (by SRP and PASS, with support from Chin Fu Tsang from the University of California Berkeley Laboratory).

Additionally, the NNWSI unsaturated problem that had been prepared for Level One, Case 3a was recommended as a Level Two problem instead.

Validation again generated much Level Two discussion regarding its meaning and what can be achieved. The following paragraphs give a summary of the HYDROCOIN discussion on validation (taken from an August 1985 memo on Level Two proposals by B. Grundfelt of the HYDROCOIN secretariat).

Validation Aspects - Two different uses of the term "validation" as used in the HYDROCOIN context were identified, namely:

- validation of the mathematical description of the physical processes involved in ground-water hydrology
- the building of confidence that we apply models correctly in order to obtain relevant answers to the questions we raise in performance assessment.

Both of these aspects can be included in Level Two, but they may require different type of experiments.

In order to be able to validate a mathematical model of a physical process, the experiments must give independent data for calibration and validation. It is reasonable to believe that this criterion can be fulfilled in laboratory experiments only.

In the field situation, the experiments generally leave too many degrees of freedom to allow validation of the mathematical model of the physical processes. Hydrological flow models are, however, applied to field situations. It is therefore necessary to build up confidence in the way the models are applied and in the way we interpret field data.

In conclusion we should aim at defining test cases based on:

- laboratory experiments suitable for validation of the physical models, i.e., they should offer data for calibration of the model as well as independent experimental data on predicted variables and
- field experiments for building confidence in the way data are interpreted and the models are applied.

At the end of the second coordinating group meeting, only the Cornish heater experiment and the NNWSI unsaturated flow problem were recommended for Level Two.

Discussions on Level Three resulted in the definition of Level Three objectives and an agreement on the strategy to be employed as well as the geological media to be considered. The primary objective of Level Three is to explore appropriate ways of using hydrogeological models in performance assessments, considering the uncertainties in present and future hydrogeological conditions. Secondary objectives are to 1) perform sensitivity and uncertainty analyses for realistic scenarios, 2) compare different methodologies for sensitivity and uncertainty analysis, and 3) act as a forum for exchanging ideas and information. The strategy to be employed involves specifying a reference or base case complete with a well-defined performance measure. Level Three problems also require the specification of a large number of possible sensitivity variations and the specification of ranges and/or statistical descriptions for parameter values. Methodologies for sensitivity and uncertainty would not necessarily be specified, which would allow different approaches to be taken and later compared by the various project teams. An attempt will be made to define Level Three problems for 1) near-surface disposal of intermediate and low-level waste in argillaceous media, 2) disposal of high-level waste in fractured crystalline rock, 3) disposal of high-level waste in bedded salt (extension of SRP's Level One, Case 6 problem), and 4) disposal of high-level waste in an unsaturated zone (e.g., disposal in tuff being studied by NNWSI).

THIRD WORKSHOP

The third semiannual workshop and coordinating group meeting hosted by OECD/NEA was held 18-21 November 1985 at the OECD headquarters in Paris, France. The objectives of this workshop were to review and discuss

- any additional Level One (verification-benchmarking) results
- preliminary Level Two (validation) results and additional Level Two problem proposals
- problems proposed for Level Three (sensitivity and uncertainty)
- the draft Level One report and initial compilation of Level One result comparisons compiled by the secretariat
- the tentative agenda for completing the Level One report as well as the time schedules for the Level Two and Level Three efforts.

SKI additionally reported on the status of discussions and negotiations related to their proposed new INTRAVAL project. INTRAVAL is an international cooperative effort for evaluating the validity of different mathematical models aimed at describing the transport of radionuclides in the geosphere.

The field trip to Limoges, France, was hosted by P. Raimbault of Commissariat a l'Energie Atomique/Institut de Protection et de Sureté Nucléaire (CEA/IPSN). Presentations were made by CEA-IPSN staff on both completed and planned experiments in the granite rock of the region. We visited the site of the heater experiments and the uranium mine where hydrology studies are being performed. Hydrologic and thermal-mechanical experiments at these sites are aimed at developing the understanding and methodology (including the instruments) for measuring various properties in low-permeability media. These experiments help determine how measurements at the small scale can be made, interpreted, and extrapolated to the larger scale. CEA/IPSN would like to achieve these objectives for both natural and disturbed environments.

Thirteen Level One presentations were made at the workshop including one by A. B. Gureghian for CRP. Generally, the same three difficulties recurred:

- Case 5 appears to be one of the most difficult Level One problems to solve.
 - Controversy at this meeting centered on the validity of the convection rolls indicated by some of the project team results and by some preliminary results by C. Voss of the United States Geological Survey (USGS). A meeting was organized by TUB (and attended by S. K. Gupta of the SRP) to address the issues surrounding Case 5 and to develop logical extensions to Levels Two and Level Three to resolve the important issues posed by Case 5. Case 5 has initiated an additional controversy regarding the appropriateness of the equations used by most codes to describe variable-density flow involving dense brines. This issue was raised in studies undertaken by Rijksinstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieuhygiene (RIVM) as a result of the difficulties various teams were having with Case 5. New mass-averaged equations for use with Case 5 were presented by RIVM. These equations, soon to be published in Water Resources Research, are currently being tested by RIVM through a set of laboratory experiments.
- 2. Prediction of pathlines (Case 4) and streamlines (Case 2) was again a consistent source of deviation in Level One results. Auxiliary codes used to calculate path- and streamlines and to estimate travel times (particle trackers) prove more successful with the path- and streamline trace prediction than with the travel-time estimation.
- 3. Boundary conditions have continued to be a source of difficulty just as they were in the earlier INTRACOIN efforts. Boundary conditions for Cases 3, 6, and 7 continued to pose a consistent Level One difficulty and a new boundary condition difficulty arose concerning Case 6 at this workshop. The Swiss project team reported a problem with a section of the infiltration boundary condition for Case 6 near to and

east of the north-south running river. In this section, the specified infiltration rate exceeds the infiltration capacity of the media. The participating teams concluded that if finer grids had been used by the linear interpolation computer codes, the same Case 6 boundary condition problems would have been discovered. The Swiss code uses quadratic elements, which results in a nonlinear allocation of total infiltration among the nodes that in turn enhanced the ability of the Swiss to detect the error in the infiltration boundary condition of Case 6.

The secretariat presented the plots showing the currently compiled results for the seven Level One problems and the first draft of parts of the Level One report. An improved summary of the Level One results and problem status was prepared from the subsequent discussion and is included here:

- Case 1 -- All results for the base case looked good. It was agreed that the optional permeability and flux calculations should be included in the report on Level One.
- Case 2 -- Results for the potentials were good; however, the streamlines and travel times showed deviations. There seemed to be convergence as finer grids were used. The Swiss suggested that the values at nodal points between at least one pair of codes using the same grid be compared directly. The inter-node interpolation problem associated with postprocessor codes would thus be illustrated.
- Case 3 -- This case has had very small participation, and no new comments were made.
- Case 4 -- Good agreement on the scalars (i.e., temperature, pressure, and density) was achieved, but the common difficulties discussed above existed in the pathlines.
- Case 5 -- This case proved to be the most difficult. The various differences in results were discussed above. The secretariat suggested that the project teams that undertook this problem give their opinions

to the secretariat for inclusion in the Level One report. C. Voss of the USGS will be given the results calculated by the participants.

- Case 6 -- Results were generally good except for the small section of infiltration boundary, noted by the Swiss, that was not realistically specified. Work will continue on this boundary-condition difficulty because this case will be extended to Level Three.
- Case 7 -- This case as well as the results were generally good, with the exception of the boundary-condition difficulty discussed earlier. Work will continue because this case will also be extended into Level Three.

The secretariat made an initial comparison of results. A more consistent use of symbols on the comparison plots was suggested so that, as much as possible, each code has a consistent symbol. It was also suggested that the importance of proper boundary-condition specifications be specifically addressed, since it was also a problem in the INTRACOIN effort.

Two presentations of preliminary Level Two results on the NNWSI unsaturated problem proposed at the second workshop were made by the team from Japan and the United Kingdom. The results looked good; however, because actual field data might not be available (there was no NNWSI participation at the workshop), we agreed to make this a Level Three problem.

Some new measurements were made available on Level Two, Case 1 (the Cornish granite heater experiment). The original conceptual model for the heater experiment, which attributed the consistently higher temperatures near the top of the heater to convection-cell formation, had been challenged. The challenger had hypothesized that this temperature distribution could also be the result of forced convection because there were no data to refute this hypothesis. Results of potential measurements in borehole C at the site support, at least in principle, this alternate conceptual model. Therefore, the possible conceptual models are 1) a thermal-convection cell, 2) generally upward flow toward the quarry and forced convection, or 3) some combination of these. During a session chaired by S. K. Gupta of SRP, five new Level Two problems were presented and the meaning of validation was discussed. In selecting appropriate Level Two problems, the secretariat reminded us that Level Two constraints are different than Level One constraints because Level Two

- involves more work per case
- requires different kinds and mixes of expertise
- does not require that every group treat every case
- requires pilot groups for each case.

Each of the five Level Two problems suggested for continued consideration was assigned to a pilot group to further formulate the problem descriptions. Table 1 categorizes the estimated months of effort, number of groups interested in participating, length and time scale addressed, validation aspect addressed, and the type of model required. Each pilot group was asked to formulate a statement explaining what was going to be achieved by the validation exercise and identifying a means or measure for judging the success of the exercise.

During the strategy session, animated Level Two discussions focused on the meaning of validation and what can be accomplished with the HYDROCOIN Level Two cases. There were detailed comparisons of the proposed Level Two cases, and the final selections and rejections of cases were made after the realistic ambitions and the attributes of each were discussed. The concerns regarding validation led to a further discussion of whether one validates codes or models. The group supported K. Andersson's plea to use the International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) definition of validation, which in the waste management context is as follows:

A conceptual model and the computer code derived from it are "validated" when it is confirmed that the conceptual model and the derived computer code provide a good representation of the actual processes occurring in the real system. Validation is thus carried out by comparison of calculations with observations and experimental measurements.

P. Goblet, Ecole des Mines (EdM-France), added the following important comment about validation:

		Estimated				
Title, Brief Description, and Status of the Problem Formulation	Pilot Group ^(a,b)	Man Months of Effort	Interested Groups	Length and Time Scales	Validation Aspect	Model Type
CASE 1 CORNWALL - Heater experiment in near-surface fractured granite. Initial problem formulation complete.	AERE-Harwell	2-4	RIT,AERE, NAGRA, JAERI,CRP	10s of m, years	Thermal convection	Flow transport (2-D)
CASE 2 "ELDER" - Thermal convection problem (laboratory scale). Initial formulation sent out as alternate Level One, Case 1. Rayleigh numbers 50-200, may be important to sait dissolution.	TUB	۱.	TUB,RIVM, SRP, PASS	l m, days	Thermal convection cell (anal- ogy to salt)	Flow transport density (2-D)
CASE 3 CHALK RIVER - Gnelss block sur- rounded by fracture zones(Canadian data set of Ken Raven). Initial formulation to be distributed mid- Jan 1986.	KEMAKTA	3-12	CEA-IPSN,SKB, NAGRA,CRP, SNL-NRC JAERI,AERE	100-200 m, steady state, and days	Real world interpretation and character- ization + porous media-fractured	Flow (2 and 3-D)
CASE 4 PICEANCE BASIN - Regional ground- water 3-D flow in low permeability anisotropic rock of Colorado, Prob- lem formulated, Additional USGS file reports and maps to be sup- plied by NRC to interested partles.	SNL-NRC	2-4	SNL-NRC, NRC-staff, SRP,CEA-IPSN, RIVM,SKB, NAGRA	100 km, steady state	Regional modeling - low permeability rock. (model calibration)	Ftow (3-D)
CASE 5 CENTRAL VALLEY - Unsaturated zone, layered, agricultural drainage problem. Problem formulation complete.	NRC-staff	1-2	NRC-staff, AERE	2 m, days-months	Drainage with real field data sufficient for calibration- validation	Unsaturated flow (1-D)

TABLE 1. Status of Recommendations Concerning Proposed HYDROCOIN Level Two Cases at the Close of the Third Workshop

(a) Each pllot group will formulate what will be achieved relative to validation and how the success of the effort should be judged.

(b) Pilot groups: AERE = Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Harwell United Kingdom; TUB = Technical University of Berlin, Berlin, Federal Republic of Germany; KEMAKTA = KEMAKTA Consultants Co., Stockholm, Sweden; SNL= Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA; NRC = U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington D.C., USA.

(c) Interested groups: RIT = Royal Institute of Technology, Stockholm, Sweden; NAGRA = Nationale Genossenschaft fur die Lagerung Ratioaktiver Abfalle, Baden, Switzerland; JAERI = Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute, Japan; CRP = Crystalline Rock Project, Chicago, Illinois, USA; RIVM = RijksInstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milleuhygiene, Netherlands; SRP = Salt Repository Project, Columbus, Ohio, USA; PASS = Performance Assessment Scientific Support Program, Richland, Washington, USA; CEA-IPSN = Commissariat a l'Energie Atomique/Institut de Protection et de Surete Nucleaire, Fontenzy-aux-Roses, France; SKB = Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co., Stockholm, Sweden; also (b) above. Current participation may be different from noted here.

(d) 1-D, 2-D, 3-D = one-, two-, and three-dimensional, respectively.

We know that our hydrologic flow models are correct for porous media for reasonable time periods for systems with water. We have years of experience. What the question is: is the applicability of our characterization methods, ability to interpret, understand and model in low permeability deep hydrologic systems.

A summary of the workshop participants' recommendations on Level Two problems is contained in Table 1. The group moved the proposed NNWSI unsaturated problem to Level Three and rejected the proposed Auburn heater experiment, because it had already been successfully worked on by several groups and because the presentation by NRC indicated that it would probably end with no definitive judgment on validation.

The final workshop session on Level Three proposals was chaired by C. R. Cole of the PASS program. The session began with an examination of the original objectives for HYDROCOIN Level Three and a discussion of additional Level Three constraints, which include the following:

- Level Three is not another verification exercise, so that every group does not need to run every problem.
- Participants have limited resources (i.e., time, staff, money), which means that if the Level Three problems are logical extensions of Level One or Level Two problems, they can be started "on the run" by those who previously participated in a Level One or Level Two problem.
- HYDROCOIN ends in 1987.
- The effort is solely a ground-water modeling exercise, which limits the performance measure to a hydrological one rather than a performance measure in terms of consequence, even though a consequence performance measure would be more useful in determining parameter importance from a sensitivity analysis point of view.
- Computer hardware capabilities could be a significant limitation when performing sensitivity and uncertainty analyses because of the large number of runs required.

The following is a brief description of the proposals for Level Three:

- Case 1 -- sensitivity analysis extension of the Level One, Case 7 problem on near-surface disposal in argillaceous media. The aim of the effort is to compare different approaches to sensitivity analysis by studying this disposal system to determine the most important hydrogeologic parameters and other attributes for this waste disposal design. Performance measures, in the form of travel time and volumetric flow rate through the disposal area, were suggested. Uncertainties in site characterization (e.g., inhomogeneities, faults, boundaries) and even time-dependent uncertainties (e.g., climate, erosion) are proposed for study.
- Case 2 -- the NNWSI deep, layered, unsaturated flow problem that was elevated from Level Two to Level Three in the previous session.
- Case 3 -- a logical extension to the Level One, Case 6 problem. It is a sensitivity study to determine the importance of heterogeneities of various scales; the effect of including brine density driving forces; and the effects of thermal heating, grid, and the coupling between regional and local modeling scales. This case had been proposed and reviewed at the second HYDROCOIN workshop by S.K. Gupta of the SRP.
- Case 4 -- a logical extension of the difficult Level One, Case 5 problem involving brine density effects. This case was not discussed in detail.
- Case 5 -- a logical extension to the Level Two, Case 3 problem involving the Chalk River gneiss block or some similar fracture flow problem possibly from Sweden. This case was not discussed in detail.
- Case 6 -- an extension of the Level Two, Case 4 problem involving the regional modeling of the Piceance Basin in Colorado. For this case, the ranges in parameters in conjunction with a calibrated Level Two model will be used in sensitivity and uncertainty analyses.

Case 7 -- a sensitivity study to determine the sources of error in particle tracking and to determine the sensitivity of flow path and travel time accuracy tracking parameters. It is designed to address some of the issues regarding auxiliary code problems related to particle tracking.

Table 2 contains a description of the status of Level Three formulations, responsible pilot groups, and schedule.

The HYDROCOIN effort has been running slightly ahead of schedule, and interest has been excellent. The overall time schedule for the HYDROCOIN effort as adopted at the third workshop is as follows:

Level One

Compiled results	-	November 1985
Draft report	-	May 1986
Final draft	-	September 1986
Published report	-	November 1986

Level Two

Decisions on		
remaining cases	-	November 1985
Case definitions	-	January 1986
Calculational attempts	-	May 1986
Results	-	November 1986
Draft report	-	May 1987
Final report	- '	September 1987
Published report		November 1987

Level Three

Decision on structure	-	November 1985
Case definitions complete	-	May 1 9 86
Early results	-	November 1986
Final results	-	May 1987
Draft report	-	November 1987
Final report	-	January 1988
Published report	-	March 1988

TABLE 2. Summary of HYDROCOIN Level Three Problems

Title, Brief Description, and Status of the Problem Formulation	Pilot Group ^(a)	Interested Groups	Length and Time Scales
CASE 1 Extension of Level One, Case 7. Problem formulated and distributed.	AERE-Harwell	AERE, ATK INS, BGS, TUB, CEA-IPSN, NRC, JAERI, SRP	25 m by 300 m, steady state, and transient
CASE 2 NNWS1 layered, deep unsaturated flow. Problem partially formulated and distributed.	NNWSI	NNWSI,NRC, BGS,AERE, JAERI	600 m, støady state, and transient
CASE 3 Extension of Level One, Case 6. Problem to be formulated.	SRP	SRP,NAGRA, CEA-IPSN, RIVM,JAERI, TUB	regional-local, steady state, and transient
CASE 4 Extension of Level One, Case 5. Problem to be formulated.	TUB	TUB,CEA-IPSN, SNL-NRC, SRP,CRP	900 m by 300 m, steady state, and transient
CASE 5 Crystalline Rock - either an extension to Level Two, Case 3 (Chalk River gneiss block) or a Swedish data set or both. Problem to be formulated.	KEMAKTA	KEMAKTA,CRP, SKB,AECL, NAGRA, CEA-1PSN	100 - 200 m, steady state, and transient
CASE 6 Extension to Level Two, Case 4 (Piceance regional modeling). Problem formulated and distributed.	SNL-NRC	SNL-NRC, Rivm, SRP, ATKINS, TUB	regional (100 km), steady state
CASE 7 Particle tracking sensitivity study. Initial formulation complete and distributed (additional aspects being formulated).	SNL-NRC	SNL-NRC, CRP,SRP, NAGRA,JAERI, BGS,RIVM,EdM, SKB,ATKINS	various scales, steady state

- (a) Pilot groups: AERE = Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Harwell, United Kingdom; NNWS1 = Nevada Nuclear Waste Storage Investigation project, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA; SRP = Sait Repository Project, Columbus, Ohio, USA; TUB = Technical University of Berlin, Berlin, Federal Republic of Germany; KEMAKTA = KEMAKTA Consultants Co., Stockholm, Sweden; SNL= Sandia National Laboratories, Albuquerque, New Mexico, USA; NRC = Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C., USA.
- (b) Interested groups: ATKINS = Atkins Research and Development, Epsom, Surrey, United Kingdom; BGS = British Geological Survey, Nottingham, United Kingdom; CEA-IPSN = Commissariat a l'Energie Atomique/Institut de Protection et de Surete Nucleaire, Fontenay-aux-Roses, France; JAERI = Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute, Tokai, Japan; NAGRA = Nationale Genossenschaft fur die Lagerung Ratioaktiver Abfalle, Baden, Switzerland; RIVM = RijksInstituut voor Volksgezondheid en Milieuhygiene, Netherlands; CRP = Crystalline Rock Project, Chicago, Illinois, USA; SKB = Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co., Stockholm, Sweden; AECL = Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. Manitoba, Canada; EdM = Ecole Nationale Superieure des Mines de Paris, Fontalnebleau, France; also (a) above. Current participation may be different from noted here.

HYDROCOIN participants agreed on the need to inform the scientific and radioactive waste management communities as well as the general public about the HYDROCOIN and INTRACOIN efforts. Various participating groups are investigating ways to achieve this goal. SKI indicated that they will host a HYDROCOIN symposium in late 1987. T. Nicholson (NRC) and C. R. Cole (PASS) will announce the availability of the Albuquerque symposium proceedings and provide background information on INTRACOIN and HYDROCOIN in <u>EOS, Transactions,</u> <u>American Geophysical Union</u>. Each participant indicated that they will publish their project team reports.
BRIEF DESCRIPTION AND INTERCOMPARISON OF OCRWM PROJECT RESULTS FOR LEVEL ONE

The OCRWM project team results for all seven HYDROCOIN Level One cases are discussed and compared in this section to illustrate the value and benefit of participation in this code verification and benchmarking effort. Complete and detailed descriptions of Level One calculations are being prepared by the OCRWM project teams. A complete report on Level One efforts and intercomparison of results from all participating HYDROCOIN project teams is being prepared by the HYDROCOIN secretariat. Consequently, detailed problem descriptions and comprehensive intercomparison of results are not presented here. The reader should refer to Appendix B for a brief description of each case and the diagrams that illustrate geometry and boundary conditions.

Level One problems consist of a set of base case calculations and may include optional additional calculations. For each case we will 1) discuss the type of problem (verification or benchmarking), 2) indicate the OCRWM project teams that participated, their level of participation in any optional calculations, and the codes they used, 3) present a limited yet illustrative intercomparison of the base case and optional results calculated by OCRWM participants, and 4) briefly discuss differences between results, what was learned as a result of participation, and the value of the effort.

CASE 1: TRANSIENT FLOW FROM A BOREHOLE IN A FRACTURED PERMEABLE MEDIUM

The analytical solution for this verification problem allows prediction of piezometric head in both the fracture and matrix as a function of time and space. Optional calculations are provided by an additional analytical solution that predicts the time-dependent flow rates from the borehole into both the fracture and the matrix. The problem domain is a finite cylinder, 5.1 meters high with a radius of 10 meters.

BWIP, CRP, and SRP participated in the base case, which consisted of predicting piezometric head relative to the steady-state head in the borehole as a function of time and space. CRP and SRP also performed the optional flux calculations, and SRP performed the additional calculation in which the fracture transmissivity was a factor of 10 higher. BWIP participated with their

MAGNUM-2D two-dimensional finite element code (England et al. 1985); CRP used the STOKES two-dimensional and three-dimensional (i.e., axis-symmetric case) finite element code (code documentation is in progress); and SRP used the CFEST three-dimensional finite element code (Gupta et al. 1982).

The comparison between BWIP, CRP, and SRP base case results is shown in Figures 1 and 2. Figure 1 is a plot of predicted relative hydraulic head versus time at a radius of 5 meters and a depth of 5 meters, and Figure 2 illustrates predictions for relative head versus radial distance from the center of the borehole at a depth of 4 meters 100 seconds after initiation of pumping. As evidenced by the figures, the results from the three codes are in very good agreement. These results and those from the analytical solution (not plotted) also agreed very well.

Grid design emerged as an important lesson from HYDROCOIN. Solution accuracy, particularly for vector quantities, was directly related to adequate spatial discretization. A typical grid design for Case 1 is illustrated in Figure 3.

CRP results for the optional time-dependent flow calculations are shown in Figure 4. This figure shows a comparison of results for flow from the borehole into the rock matrix as a function of time calculated by two different numerical methods and for two different analytical solution methods. SRP results for these optional calculations are similar to the results CRP obtained with numerical method 2. The comparison between analytical results and SRP numerical results for time-dependent flow from the borehole into the fracture for the high fracture transmissivity case (i.e., Tf=10⁻⁷ m²/sec instead of 10⁻⁸ m²/sec) are illustrated in Figure 5.

Results for Case 1 agreed closely with the analytical solution and with each other for both the base and optional cases. In general this problem, which was designed to test numerical codes, proved easier to solve than had been expected. The total value of the efforts on Case 1 and all that was learned is not evident from the short description presented here and the limited comparison between three OCRWM finite element codes. The full HYDROCOIN code comparison will discuss any apparent advantages of finite element methods over finite difference methods and the capability of one-dimensional fracture



FIGURE 1. A Comparison of BWIP, CRP, and SRP Results for Relative Head as a Function of Time at the Interface Between the Rock Matrix and Fracture



FIGURE 2. A Comparison of BWIP, CRP, and SRP Results for Relative Head in the Rock Matrix as a Function of Radial Distance from the Borehole



FIGURE 3. A Typical Case 1 Finite Element Grid Mesh. This figure was taken from an SRP presentation at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

elements. The full HYDROCOIN report and the more detailed project team reports of all the participants will document more completely all that was learned. Experience gained with various grid designs and time discretization schemes will prove valuable in future performance-assessment efforts. The fine grid near the borehole and fracture-matrix interface, as shown in Figure 3, proved necessary to match the borehole inflow rates shown in Figures 4 and 5 and to match the steady-state head at the long times (104 seconds) shown in Figure 1.

A preliminary analysis of other HYDROCOIN project team results, reported at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop, indicates that finite element and finite difference codes performed equally well on this problem. Additionally EdM used a mixed one- and two-dimensional element approach on this problem; onedimensional elements were used for the fracture. They obtained equivalent results for reduced costs.



FIGURE 4. CRP Results for Time-Dependent Relative Flow Rate from the Borehole into the Rock Matrix as a Function of Time. This graph was taken from a CRP presentation at the third HYDROCOIN workshop. Results for two different numerical methods and two different analytical solution methods are shown.

CASE 2: STEADY-STATE FLOW IN A ROCK MASS INTERSECTED BY PERMEABLE FRACTURE ZONES

This two-dimensional (x-z), regional scale, steady-state, fracture zone flow, benchmark problem was designed to test the ability of codes to treat high permeability contrasts for a complicated geometry. Being a benchmark problem, no analytical solution exists and solution correctness was tested by tracking solution convergence as a function of spatial discretization as well as code intercomparison. Coarse, medium, and fine mesh solutions were calculated and



FIGURE 5. SRP Results for Time-Dependent Relative Flow Rate from the Borehole into the Fracture as a Function of Time for the High Transmissivity Optional Calculations. This graph was taken from an SRP presentation at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

the convergence of potentials as a function of x-location at depths of z = 0 m, -200 m, -400 m, -600 m, and -800 m were compared to indicate solution convergence as a function of spatial discretization. Additionally, since it is recognized that pathlines and travel time predictions are a better measure of system performance, the starting location for four pathlines was identified. Comparisons of both trajectory and travel time were made as a function of spatial discretization. There were no optional additional calculations.

BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP participated. BWIP used their MAGNUM-2D code; CRP used the STOKES code to solve for potentials and their particle tracking code, PARTICLE, to predict streamlines (code documentation is in progress); NNWSI used the two-dimensional, partially or fully saturated, finite element code, SAGUARO (Eaton et al. 1983); SRP again exercised the CFEST code.

A comparison plot of BWIP-, CRP-, NNWSI-, and SRP-calculated potentials at an elevation of -800 m as a function of x-location is shown in Figure 6. Because this depth proved to be the most sensitive to spatial discretization, which is appropriate given that it is the greatest distance from the specified potential boundaries, no other comparison plot of potentials will be illustrated. The full suite of comparisons will be left for the HYDROCOIN report. A typical experience with solution convergence for quadratic elements as a function of spatial discretization is illustrated by the results shown in Figure 7. Typical fine-grid potential contours for this case are illustrated in Figure 8. A comparison of CRP-, NNWSI-, and SRP-calculated streamline trajectories for the finest grids is shown in Figure 9. BWIP did not calculate streamlines because participation was limited to the first and second workshops.

The CRP presentation at the third HYDROCOIN workshop indicated that CRP did an extensive analysis of the differences between the use of linear versus quadratic elements; in the STOKES code these are user-selected options. For comparison purposes, CRP's experience with solution convergence for linear elements as a function of spatial discretization is illustrated by the results shown in Figure 10. A comparison with Figure 7, which shows convergence for the same element grids for quadratic elements, illustrates the higher accuracy of these elements. The question of using linear versus quadratic elements surfaced throughout the HYDROCOIN exercise; it was generally felt that quadratic elements offered some advantages. All of the comparisons have been based on solution accuracy versus number of elements, although the more meaningful comparison numbers would be in terms of solution accuracy as a function of number of nodes and work per node.

The finest finite element grid used by CRP (Figure 11) illustrates another recurrent HYDROCOIN boundary-condition problem. Solution singularities occur at the juncture between Dirichlet and no-flow boundaries in the upper right and upper left corners of Figure 11. These can be handled by using a narrow element along the no-flow boundary and specifying the same Dirichlet boundary



FIGURE 6. Comparison of BWIP, CRP (quadratic interpolation), NNWSI, and SRP Calculated Potentials Versus x-Location at a Elevation of -800 m for Their Finest Grids



FIGURE 7. CRP Results (presented at the third HYDROCOIN workshop) Illustrating Solution Convergence as a Function of Increased Spatial Resolution. This is a plot of calculated potential versus x-location at an elevation of -800 m for three different grid meshes and quadratic interpolation.



STEADY STATE HYDRAULIC HEAD FIELD, FINE FINITE ELEMENT MESH <u>FIGURE 8</u>. Fine-Grid Potential Contours Calculated by BWIP. This plot was taken from a BWIP presentation at the first HYDROCOIN workshop.

condition, thus causing flow in this corner element to be parallel to the no-flow boundary. The introduction of narrow elements along a no-flow boundary as illustrated in Figure 11 allows for flow field curvature and thus a better approximation of a no-flow boundary. I believe the CRP solution presented in Figure 6 to be better than the others as a result of the use of this discretization strategy. The importance of implementation details like this one is often overlooked even though model results can be significantly affected. Discussions regarding the effects of discretization strategy suggest that sharing of modeling techniques (the "tricks of the trade") is one of the positive aspects of the HYDROCOIN and previous INTRACOIN efforts.



FIGURE 9. Comparison of Streamline Trajectories for the Finest Grids Calculated by CRP (using two different interpolation schemes), NNWSI, and SRP

The complicated geometry and high permeability contrasts of this problem caused difficulties for many of the auxiliary codes used to calculate pathlines and travel times. As a result of these difficulties, SRP and CRP improved their codes. These difficulties, as well as others that surfaced in Case 4 and Case 7, resulted in the Level Three problem on pathline-travel times. Case 2, like other Level One problems that included pathline-travel time calculations, illustrated that comparison of single pathline-travel time calculations is not a meaningful way to compare predictions. It would be more appropriate to identify a region of interest from which multiple pathlines (equally spaced in the flow field) and their associated travel times are calculated. This distribution of pathlines and travel times would then be compared statistically as a part of the code intercomparison.



FIGURE 10. CRP's Finest Finite Element Grid, Illustrating the Use of Narrow Elements for Boundary Condition Implementation. This plot was taken from the CRP presentation at the third HYDROCOIN workshop.

The more complicated geometry of this problem served to better test the finite element versus finite difference question regarding complicated geometry and the advantage of lower-dimensional elements for the fractures. Several participants used this problem to test methods for illustrating solution convergence and distribution of mass-balance errors. The conclusions regarding these comparisons will be discussed in the HYDROCOIN report. The strong dependence of results, both in the form of predicted potentials and the more mean-ingful performance measures (e.g., streamlines), on the spatial discretization chosen indicates that detailed spatial discretization studies should accompany every performance calculation.



FIGURE 11. CRP Results (presented at the third HYDROCOIN workshop) Illustrating Solution Convergence as a Function of Increased Spatial Resolution. This is a plot of calculated potential versus x-location at an elevation of -800 m for three different grid meshes and linear interpolation.

Analysis of other HYDROCOIN project team results, reported at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop, indicates that coarse grids and finite difference codes may be inadequate for this kind of problem. The analysis also indicated that onedimensional fracture element approaches can be used successfully for potentials but that no team was able to use them for streamline calculations.

CASE 3: SATURATED-UNSATURATED FLOW THROUGH A LAYERED SEQUENCE OF SEDIMENTARY ROCKS

The purpose of this benchmark problem, which is based on the ground-water system observed at a Swiss site being investigated for disposal of intermediate-level waste, was to test the ability of numerical codes to determine the position of the water table in a layered sedimentary sequence where the layers have totally different hydraulic properties.

Among the OCRWM teams only NNWSI participated in this case, using their SAGUARO code with its saturated-unsaturated capabilities. Case 3 was tackled by only a few HYDROCOIN participants and each one, including NNWSI, had to alter the characteristic curves that represent the material properties to achieve any kind of solution. The Case 3 problem definition calls for comparison of the steady-state location of the water table and comparison of transient results as the system proceeds to steady-state. By altering the characteristic curves, NNWSI was able to obtain an approximate solution for the steady-state location of the water table, which, as shown in Figure 12, compared reasonably



FIGURE 12. A Comparison of NNWSI Calculated Steady-State Water Table Location With Results Presented by Grundfelt (1984). This figure was taken from the January 10, 1986, NNWSI status report submitted to the HYDROCOIN secretariat.

well with the solution calculated by Grundfelt (1984). Case 3 proved to be a much more difficult problem than had been envisioned. The major difficulties were most likely related to the unrealistic characteristic curves, which were extrapolated from a limited amount of field data.

CASE 4: TRANSIENT THERMAL CONVECTION IN A SATURATED PERMEABLE MEDIUM

The analytical solution for this important verification problem describes time-dependent buoyancy-driven flow in a saturated, permeable, homogeneous, isotropic medium resulting from a decaying heat source. This highly idealized spherical repository problem provided a means to test a code's ability to predict the vertical driving forces that decrease travel time to the biosphere. The analytical solution allows prediction of temperature, pressure, and pathlines everywhere within the cylindrical polar coordinate system for which the solution is defined. The spherical repository is located in an infinite, permeable medium that has an exponentially decaying heat source. Problem definition called for comparison of calculated pathline trajectories and the associated travel times as well as temperatures and pressures at specified times as a function of space coordinates and at specified space locations as a function of time.

BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP participated in this case. BWIP used the PORFLO code (Kline et al. 1983) but did not perform the pathline-travel time calculations because of their limited participation. PORFLO is a two-dimensional, integrated finite difference code for modeling ground-water flow, heat transfer and mass transport. CRP used the STOKES code; NNWSI used the SAGUARO code; SRP used the CFEST code.

Figures 13, 14, and 15 are included to illustrate the typical problem geometry and spatial distribution of temperature and dynamic pressure that is calculated for this case. Figure 13 is the radial (r-z) grid used by the SRP team to solve this problem. Figures 14 and 15 are contour maps of temperature and dynamic pressure results at a time of 100 years and depict the region of elevated temperature due to repository heating and the presence of the buoyancy driving force, as indicated by the dynamic pressure contours. In these figures, the temperature contour interval is 10°C and the dynamic pressure contour



FIGURE 13. The Radial (r-z) Grid Utilized by SRP for Case 4. This figure was taken from their presentation at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.

interval is 2000 Pascals. The comparison between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations of temperature versus vertical distance at a radius of 0 meters and at times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 years is shown in Figure 16. The comparison between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations of temperature versus time at vertical distances of 0, 125, 250, and 375 meters and at a radius of 0 meters is illustrated in Figure 17. The comparison between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations for dynamic pressure versus vertical distance at a radius of 0 meters and at times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 years is depicted in Figure 18. Figure 19 is similar to Figure 18 but shows only CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations in order to allow for a closer comparison of these results.



FIGURE 14. Contour Maps of SRP Temperature Results for Case 4 at a Time of 100 Years With Equally Spaced Temperature Contours of 10°C. This figure was taken from SRP results presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.

Similarly, Figure 20 illustrates BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations for pressure versus time for vertical distances of 125, 250, and 375 meters at a radius of 0 meters; Figure 21 illustrates just the CRP, NNWSI, and SRP calculations. Figure 22 illustrates the CRP-, NNWSI-, and SRP-calculated pathline trajectories as well as the analytical solution for three pathlines initiated at a time of 100 years from locations r = 0 meters and for z = 0, 125, and 250 meters respectively.

The agreement between CRP-, NNWSI-, and SRP-calculated temperatures and pressures as a function of time and space is excellent, as is the agreement of these results with the analytical solution, which is not shown. The slight



FIGURE 15. Contour Map of Dynamic Pressure Results for Case 4 at a Time of 100 Years With Dynamic Pressure Contour Spacing of 2000 Pascals. This figure taken from SRP results presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.

deviations in these results are probably related to the spatial and time discretizations used and to the methods used to establish boundary conditions that approximate the infinite medium of the analytical solution with a finite spatial grid.

The deviation of the BWIP temperature and pressure results is related to two factors. The first factor, which explains the deviation in the temperature results, is that the heat source in the BWIP modeling was cylindrical instead of spherical. That is why the temperature comparisons shown in Figures 16 and 17 are relatively good everywhere except at the edge of the repository (250 meters), where the deviation between spherical and cylindrical approximations



FIGURE 15. Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Temperature Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of 0 m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years

for the heat source geometry is greatest. The large deviations in pressure results should have no effect on the calculated temperature rise since temperature is only a result of conduction (i.e., temperature calculations are decoupled from pressure calculations). SRP had similar geometry problems initially and as a result added a grid-generation capability to handle the arbitrary r-z geometries needed to address this problem.

The second factor that explains the deviations in the BWIP calculations of pressure versus time (Figure 18) and pressure versus distance (Figure 20) calculations is that the analytical solution used in this case assumes a linear relationship between the density of water and temperature; the PORFLO code used by BWIP assumes an exponential relationship. BWIP recognized these difficulties and reported them at the first HYDROCOIN workshop. They also suggested that variations of this same problem could be utilized for more realistic benchmark comparisons in which the temperature and pressure equations were more fully coupled than in the current verification problem. BWIP presented some



FIGURE 17. Comparison of BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Temperature Versus Time at Vertical Distances of 0, 125, 250, and 375 m and at a Radius of 0 m



FIGURE 18.

Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Dynamic Pressure Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of O m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years.



FIGURE 19. Closer Comparison Between CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Dynamic Pressure Versus Vertical Distance at a Radius of 0 m and at Times of 50, 100, 500, and 1000 Years



FIGURE 20. Comparison Between BWIP, CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Pressure Versus Time for Vertical Distances of 125, 250, and 375 m at a Radius of 0 m



FIGURE 21. Closer Comparison Between CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculations for Pressure Versus Time for Vertical Distances of 125, 250, and 375 m at a Radius of 0 m



FIGURE 22. CRP, NNWSI, and SRP Calculated Pathline Trajectories and the Analytical Solution for Three Pathlines Initiated at a Time of 100 Years from Locations r = 0 m and for z = 0, 125, and 250 m

initial benchmark results illustrating the effect of different amounts of coupling at the second HYDROCOIN workshop, the last workshop in which they were able to participate.

The pathline trajectory comparisons of Figure 22 illustrate a common pattern in HYDROCOIN and the earlier INTRACOIN results. We can predict scalar quantities such as temperature, pressure, or head with little deviation, but have much greater difficulty with vector quantities such as fluxes, velocities, and stream- or pathlines. SRP studied the effects of various spatial and temporal discretizations and concluded that much of the difficulty appears to be directly related to the spatial and temporal discretizations utilized. For example, the deviation from vertical (the analytical trajectory) of the trajectory of the pathlines of Figure 22 that start at r = 0 m and z = 0 m is directly related to the size of the first angular discretization, the linear element interpolation scheme, and the left no-flow boundary that arises from problem symmetry. Problems at this boundary are similar to the no-flow boundary problems already discussed for Case 2. Other difficulties are directly related to the interpolation schemes used and to the methods by which velocities are calculated from the scalar quantities calculated as solutions to the partial differential equations. These problems with correct pathline and streamline calculation have resulted in a Level Three problem to determine the source of these difficulties.

CASE 5: SALT WATER DISTRIBUTION IN A SATURATED POROUS MEDIUM

Case 5 is benchmark problem designed to test the ability of a code to predict the location of the fresh water-salt water interface in a ground-water system above a salt dome. This idealized, two-dimensional, vertical (x-z) cross-section problem was patterned after a hydrogeologic setting observed near a German salt dome. It involves modeling nonlinear, steady-state flow and brine transport. Interactions between strong density gradients and the diffusion-dispersion parameters control system behavior. Understanding how isolated stagnation zones form in these systems is important for assessing the performance of proposed salt repositories.

SRP, using their CFEST code, was the only OCRWM project to participate in this case, which proved to be one of the most difficult of the Level One problems. Five other HYDROCOIN teams and C. Voss of the USGS also addressed this problem. SRP is preparing a detailed project report on their Level One efforts, so only brief, illustrative results from SRP's presentation at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop will be discussed here. The steady-state, salt concentration (normalized 0-1.0) contours calculated by SRP are shown in Figure 23. An analysis of these contours, the calculated streamline trajectories (Figure 24), and a plot of the velocity vectors (Figure 25) indicate that two separate flow systems exist. The lower system is essentially stagnant with what little circulation that exists being dominated by density gradients and diffusion (see Figure 25). Communication across the relatively sharp salt water-fresh water interface is controlled by the system's diffusion-dispersion parameters. This communication in turn controls the degree of isolation of the lower system. No formal comparisons can be made until published team reports from the other participants are available. Results presented by AERE, Harwell, at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop are very similar to SRP's.

Case 5 has been extremely valuable to SRP because it addresses important questions related to density-dependent flow. This case has no analytical



FIGURE 23. SRP-Calculated Steady-State, Salt Concentration Contours for Level One, Case 5. The contour interval is 0.05 and concentration is normalized (0-1.0). This figure is taken from SRP results presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.



FIGURE 24. SRP's Calculated Trajectories for the Five Level One, Case 5 Streamlines. This figure was taken from SRP results presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.



FIGURE 25. Velocity Vector Plot Calculated by SRP for Level One, Case 5. This figure taken from SRP results presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop.

solutions and would have been extremely difficult to test without the HYDROCOIN environment. The initial SRP solution for this case, shown in Figure 26, seemed very reasonable but was wrong. This solution is the kind that would have been obtained for a system with a very high molecular diffusion



FIGURE 26. The Initial SRP Solution for Level One, Case 5 Calculated Without the Consistent Velocity Interpolation Scheme. This figure taken from SRP results presented at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

coefficient. A comparison of this early SRP result with the solution the USGS initially obtained with their SUTRA code indicated that the source of the high artificial diffusion in the SRP's CFEST solution was a ground-water velocity interpolation difficulty that arises when modeling variable density systems. As a result, the consistent velocity approach discussed in the SUTRA code documentation (Voss 1984) was implemented in the CFEST code. The AERE team experienced a similar velocity interpolation difficulty that forced them to use a mixed interpolation scheme to allow for the appropriate balance between the gravitational term and the pressure gradient in the highly stratified regions. Quadratic interpolation was used for pressure and linear interpolation was used for salt concentration.

Analysis of this problem resulted in the preparation of a vector plotting capability for the CFEST code (Figure 25), because for variable density systems one cannot study potential or pressure contours to determine either flow direction or velocity. Participation in HYDROCOIN has resulted in many code improvements, especially in auxiliary codes for plotting, interpreting, and displaying results. SRP has already begun to use the experience with variable density systems that they gained as a result of the HYDROCOIN Case 4 and Case 5 efforts in ongoing performance-assessment studies.

This problem, like many of the others, had some boundary condition difficulties, again emphasizing the importance of careful analysis and selection of boundary conditions. The problem as originally posed should have had no salt water concentration plume, because the molecular diffusion constant was specified as zero. The system's lateral and longitudinal dispersion parameters should not allow any salt movement from the top of the salt dome, since flow can only be parallel with the top of the dome, resulting in zero vertical velocity and thus no vertical dispersion. Numerical codes, however, will predict salt movement into the system even if the diffusion coefficient is set to zero because there is always a free numerical diffusion component related to the grid spacing. Without a defined value for molecular diffusion, the amount of salt entering the system is strictly a function of grid spacing and numerical diffusion.

The Dirichlet pressure boundary condition along the top, if implemented exactly as specified, would result in solution singularities in the upper left and upper right corners. The introduction of narrow elements along the left and right sides, as discussed for Case 2, alleviates this problem. The experience of the SRP team in obtaining a solution as a result of this Dirichlet boundary indicates the need for more careful selection of boundary conditions during the conceptual modeling and boundary condition interpretation stage of performance assessment. The left end of this system represents a ground-water divide in a recharge area. The right end represents a ground-water divide near a discharge river or lake, and a reasonable conceptual model would include ground-water system recharge in between. The Dirichlet pressure boundary condition specified was meant to approximate this case, but, as shown by Figure 25, recharge occurs in less than half of the system. For the boundary conditions specified, the recharge-discharge quantities and locations are strictly a function of the current subsurface salt concentrations, which means that the definition of the system being simulated is constantly changing as one approaches steady state. If the recharge distribution were specified directly and Dirichlet boundary conditions were specified only at discharge locations. then the system definition would be fixed. The difficulties this caused the SRP team can be best described as sloshing. SRP was using a direct, iterative, steady-state approach, unlike the transient approach used by the USGS and TUB.

In this steady-state approach, initial estimates for the concentration distribution were used to update the estimates for density. For the first iteration, predicted flow in the system was from left to right. As a result of concentration-density updates, flow in the system would reverse during the next iteration, and the system would slosh back and forth as the iterations proceeded. If pressures were specified only at the discharge locations and recharge was specified elsewhere, then calculated system pressures would adjust to accommodate the specified recharge inflow. The predicted flow direction in the system would be more stable and more importantly the flux moving through the system would be constant and not a function of the iteration or time step as in the case as posed. To solve this flow system oscillation problem, SRP had to severely limit the allowable density changes that could be made on any single iteration.

CASE 6: THREE-DIMENSIONAL STEADY-STATE FLOW IN A REGIONAL AQUIFER

This benchmark problem was developed and posed by SRP and tests the ability of a computer code to model three-dimensional ground-water flow in a regional ground-water system with rock layers of highly contrasting anisotropic hydraulic conductivity, typical of bedded salt sites and basalts. This highly idealized system was constructed to include many of the features important to modeling the regional ground water of the Palo Duro Basin in Texas, USA. See Appendix B for a description of the geometry. The required output for purposes of comparison is hydraulic head along specified lines, streamlines, and flux through the salt layer.

SRP was the only OCRWM project to participate in this Level One case, and they used their three-dimensional, finite element, hydrologic flow code FE3DGW (Gupta et al. 1984). Seven other HYDROCOIN project teams participated in this case. Three teams used finite difference codes; the rest used finite element codes. SRP is preparing a detailed project report, so only brief illustrative results from SRP's presentation at the second HYDROCOIN workshop will be discussed here. Figure 27 shows an isometric view of the grid mesh used for Case 6. Figure 28 is a contour map of calculated potentials along a vertical



FIGURE 27. An Isometric View of the Finite Element Grid Mesh Used by SRP for Level One, Case 6. This figure was taken from SRP results presented at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

cross-section on the southern problem boundary. Until published team reports from the other HYDROCOIN participants are available, SRP results cannot be formally compared with their results.

Initial analysis of results at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop indicate that, while there is a spread in predicted potentials and streamline-travel time results, there is definite clustering of results. The greatest variability in potentials was near the surface, in the region where an unrealistically high infiltration boundary condition was specified. The boundary-condition problem area is noted by an asterisk in Figure 28. Another observation was that finite difference codes showed the greatest variability. This is consistent with what was learned from Case 2 regarding the relative ability of finite element codes versus finite difference codes for dealing with complex



Vertical Exaggeration = 50

FIGURE 28. Contour Map of the Level One, Case 6 Potentials Calculated by SRP with the FE3DGW Code Along a Vertical Cross-Section on the Southern Problem Boundary. The contour interval is 25 m. This figure was taken from SRP results presented at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

geometries and limited discretization. A solution convergence study for this problem, like that performed for Case 2, would probably indicate that the major cause of the deviations is due to inadequate spatial discretization.

SRP found that they had to double the vertical resolution of the lowest hydrologic layer to keep streamlines moving parallel to the lower no-flow boundary. Without this increased vertical resolution, the streamlines would exit the no-flow boundary. However, despite all the difficulties and variability in potentials, calculated fluxes through the salt system (an important measure of performance) varied only by a factor of two. The active participation of the various HYDROCOIN project teams in this benchmark problem has been extremely valuable to SRP. The projected participation in the Level Three extension to this problem will provide even greater benefits to SRP.

CASE 7: TWO-DIMENSIONAL FLOW THROUGH A SHALLOW LAND DISPOSAL FACILITY IN ARGILLACEOUS MEDIA

Case 7 is a benchmark problem designed to test a code's ability to model ground-water flow around a hypothetical shallow land disposal facility designed for low- and intermediate-level waste. The geometry and vertically varying hydraulic conductivity and porosity selected for this problem correspond to proposed disposal options and the hydrological setting found at several potential sites located in the United Kingdom. Fully saturated, two-dimensional ground-water flow calculations were performed along a vertical (x-z) crosssection for two disposal options involving high- and low-permeability concrete blocks. Code comparisons were made by comparing calculated trajectories and travel times for twelve different streamlines and by comparing code-predicted vertical velocities along horizontal lines at three different depths.

SRP was the only OCRWM participant that had completed Case 7 at the time this report was drafted. They utilized the CFEST code. CRP has also completed this case using their STOKES code and PARTICLE auxiliary code, but results were not available in time to be included here. Detailed reports are being prepared by the CRP and SRP teams. Only a summary of SRP results that were presented at the second HYDROCOIN workshop will be discussed here. A contour map of calculated potentials for the low-permeability concrete variation is shown in Figure 29. The calculated streamline trajectories for this low-permeability variation are illustrated in Figure 30. This problem did not pose any significant difficulty for the SRP project team. Published team reports from the other HYDROCOIN participants are not yet available, so no formal comparison of results can be made.

The results of an initial analyses of the full HYDROCOIN participation in this case were presented at the fourth HYDROCOIN workshop. This analysis indicates that twelve project teams participated in Case 7. The major difficulties with this benchmark problem were associated with the variation of permeability and porosity with depth and the implementation of an unrealistic seepage face boundary condition on the right end of the problem. In general, Case 7 results are in reasonable agreement. The largest deviations were observed for the low permeability variation and with the use of triangular elements.



.



FIGURE 30. Calculated Streamline Trajectories for the Twelve Streamlines Specified in the Case 7 Problem Definition. This figure was taken from SRP results presented at the second HYDROCOIN workshop.

DISCUSSION OF RESULTS FROM LEVEL ONE AND PLANS FOR LEVELS TWO AND THREE

LEVEL ONE

The benefits to OCRWM from participating in HYDROCOIN Level One (verification and benchmarking) have exceeded the stated objectives for this level. The insights gained on the technical details of modeling from the face to face interaction of OCRWM scientists with their peers has greatly augmented the knowledge that would have been gained from strict code intercomparisons. The following enumeration lists all the major benefits complete with a short description of each.

1. Problem Formulation and Selection - Formulation and selection of relevant verification and benchmark problems is a difficult process. Participation in HYDROCOIN has provided the OCRWM participants with a great deal of insight and experience which will prove of value in their ongoing verification and benchmarking efforts. SRP's layered salt benchmark problem (Case 6) has been improved as a result of HYDROCOIN participation. Enhancements were made to the Case 6 problem formulation that required additional comparison of predicted flux through the salt. An ambiguity in the infiltration boundary condition was exposed as a result of the particular code and discretization scheme used by the Swiss. Case 4 has proved to be a useful verification problem for all OCRWM project teams by providing one of the only analytical solutions involving buoyancy as well as a test for pathlines. Case 5 has proved to be one of the toughest and most revealing of the benchmark problems. This important salt site problem, which on the surface appears very simple, would probably not have been chosen outside the forum of HYDROCOIN. This Case 5 problem, without a doubt, was proposed because of the difficulties that a similar real problem had posed. Cases 1 and 2 provide useful equivalent porous media fracture flow problems important to the CRP and the other projects that must deal with fractures and fracture zones.

Involvement with a respected peer group for the process of verification and benchmark problem formulation has proved to be a valuable experience for the OCRWM participants. This experience will continue to benefit future OCRWM verification and benchmarking efforts, which are such an important part of the continuing need to assure ourselves, the regulators, and the public concerning the numerical accuracy and applicability of our performance-assessment codes.

2. Intercode Comparison - The obvious advantage of HYDROCOIN participation is in the area of code intercomparison for benchmark problems because no analytical solution (or answer book) exists to provide the correct result. The correctness or accuracy of a code can only be judged by comparing it with the solutions computed by other codes. For the HYDROCOIN benchmark problems, a number of results are available from a variety of different codes representing various numerical approaches by independent modeling teams. This variety provides the best type of code intercomparison. Although verification problems generally provide a useful means for checking code accuracy and applicability without the need for code intercomparison, this does not always provide the complete set of information of interest. As a result of discretization and other approximations, numerical codes rarely reproduce analytical solutions exactly.

Intercomparison of results from different codes can thus be beneficial, even for verification problems. As is the case with benchmark problem intercomparison, subtle differences between a given code and the majority of the other codes can identify potential advantages or errors either in the majority of the codes or in the deviant code. Intercomparison of results can also reveal inadequate or advantageous means of discretization or other useful information concerning numerical implementation strategy. Participation in Level One has provided benefits in each of these areas of code intercomparison. Case 5, for example, illustrated a difficulty with standard finite element approaches for density-dependent problems. As a result, the consistent velocity formulation used in the two-dimensional SUTRA code

(Voss 1984) was incorporated into SRP's code. Additionally, the SUTRA code was identified as a potentially important code for the PASS program to verify and benchmark because it can also solve unsaturated flow and transport problems important to tuff performance assessment. Cases 2, 4, and 7 have provided beneficial information concerning discretization strategy and various mass balance and residuals methodologies for evaluating the adequacy of a given grid. Problems associated with the interpolation of results between nodes and with the generation of path- and streamlines has resulted in code improvements and problems for Level Three to resolve the source of these difficulties.

- 3. Appropriate Organization and Timing The organization and timing of HYDROCOIN have provided an opportunity to make progress in the area of code verification and benchmarking which, at best, could otherwise only be achieved through more costly and time-consuming efforts. The HYDROCOIN organization and structure draws from a wide variety of capable participants with enough diversity in interests and needs such that appropriate problems of mutual interest can be formulated and used. Additionally, sufficient participation with an ample variety of code types in each of the Level One cases has given this effort the required credibility. While this set of HYDROCOIN benchmarks does not satisfy the complete needs of any of the OGR projects, they do provide a base level of key verification and benchmarking credibility and also identify those codes against which future benchmark comparisons would be most beneficial.
- 4. Development of Credibility and Forum for Exchange The wide variety of participating groups, which includes regulatory agencies from various countries and various peer groups, provides a measure of credibility to the HYDROCOIN benchmarking effort that would be hard for DOE to otherwise achieve. This same combination also provides an excellent forum for technical exchange and a means for OCRWM participants to present and compare their performance-assessment approaches with those being used by their peers. Comparisons of OCRWM efforts

with those of independent groups not only build credibility for OCRWM projects but these comparisons also help ensure that we are using the best performance-assessment approaches and techniques available. In addition to the HYDROCOIN code intercomparison report being published by the secretariat, each of the projects is publishing separate team reports, which will provide additional credibility to OGR project verification and benchmarking efforts.

The successful joint DOE/NRC "Symposium on Groundwater Flow and Transport Modeling for Performance Assessment of Deep Geological Disposal of Radioactive Waste: A Critical Evaluation of the State of the Art" was another direct benefit related to HYDROCOIN participation to date.

LEVELS TWO AND THREE

Participation in the early planning and discussion stages of Level Two has already provided useful insights about the difficulties associated with validation efforts. Continued involvement in both Level Two and Level Three is planned to varying degrees by the various OCRWM project teams (see Tables 1 and 2). Both NNWSI and SRP have formulated Level Three sensitivity and uncertainty problems that will provide direct benefit, because these problems have been defined to be useful both for the HYDROCOIN participants and for the respective OCRWM projects. Given the relative difficulty of the issues addressed by Levels Two and Three, the potential for benefits of participation are much greater than they were for Level One.

Participation by the project teams in the HYDROCOIN workshops and co-ordinating group meetings is so valuable because of the quality of the technical discussions, the openness and sharing of successful new ideas and approaches, and the candid discussions of failures. These meetings alone would justify full participation in HYDROCOIN. NRC and DOE will host the May 1987 HYDROCOIN meeting in the United States in order to allow more of the U.S. ground-water modelers to attend.

REFERENCES

- Eaton, R. R., D. K. Garling, and D. E. Larson. 1983. <u>SAGUARO A Finite Ele-</u> ment Computer Program for Partially Saturated Porous Flow Problems. SAND82-2772, Sandia National Laboratory, Albuquerque, New Mexico.
- England, R. L., N. W. Kline, K. J. Ekblad, and R. G. Baca. 1985. <u>MAGNUM-2D</u> <u>Computer Code: Users Guide</u>. RHO-BW-CR-143, Rockwell Hanford Operations, Richland, Washington.
- Grundfelt, B. 1984. <u>Proposal for a Test Problem for HYDROCOIN Level 1</u>, Case 3. 0142-840515, KEMAKTA Consultants Co, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Gupta, S. K., C. T. Kincaid, P. R. Meyer, C. A. Newbill, and C. R. Cole. 1982. <u>CFEST - Multi-Dimensional Finite Element Code for the Analysis of Coupled</u> <u>Fluid, Energy and Solute Transport</u>. PNL-4260, Pacific Northwest Laboratory, <u>Richland</u>, Washington.
- Gupta, S. K., C. R. Cole, F. W. Bond, and A. M. Monti. 1984. <u>Finite-Element</u> <u>Three-Dimensional Ground-Water (FE3DGW) Flow Model: Formulation, Computer</u> <u>Source Listings, and User's Manual</u>. <u>BMI/ONWI-548</u>, Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation, Battelle Memorial Institute, Columbus, Ohio.
- Kline, N. W., A. K. Runchal, and R. G. Baca. 1983. <u>PORFLO Computer Code:</u> <u>Users Guide</u>. RHO-BW-CR-138, Rockwell Hanford Operations, Richland, Washington.
- Pacific Northwest Laboratory (PNL). 1986. <u>Proceedings of the Symposium on</u> <u>Groundwater Flow and Transport Modeling for Performance Assessment of Deep</u> <u>Geological Disposal of Radioactive Waste: A Critical Evaluation of the State</u> <u>of the Art. PNL-SA-13796</u>, NUREG/CP-0079, CONF-8505180. National Technical Information Service, Springfield, Virginia.
- Rusche, B. C. 1986. "International Cooperation in the Development and Demonstration of Radioactive Waste Management Technology." Paper presented at the European Nuclear Conference (ENC-86), June 1-6, 1986, Geneva, Switzerland.
- SKI. 1984. <u>HYDROCOIN Progress Report No 1, May-December 1984</u>. Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate, Stockholm, Sweden.
- SKI. 1985. HYDROCOIN Progress Report No 2, January-June 1985. Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate, Stockholm, Sweden.
- SKI. 1986. <u>HYDROCOIN Progress Report No 3, July-December 1985</u>. Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate, Stockholm, Sweden.
- Voss, C. I. 1984. "SUTRA, <u>Saturated-Unsaturated TRAnsport</u>, A Finite-Element Simulation Model For Saturated-Unsaturated, Fluid-Density-Dependent Ground-Water Flow With Energy Transport Or Chemically Reactive Single-Species Solute Transport." U.S. Geological Survey, National Center, Reston, Virginia.
APPENDIX A

DESCRIPTION OF THE HYDROCOIN ORGANIZATION (TAKEN FROM HYDROCOIN PROGRESS REPORT NO. 3)

.

٠

HYDROCOIN ORGANIZATION

The study is directed by a Coordinating Group with one member from each participating organization (Party) setting up the study. The Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate (SKI) acts as managing participant. A project Secretariat has, according to the agreement between the HYDROCOIN Parties, been set up by SKI in cooperation with the United Kingdom Atomic Energy Authority/Atomic Energy Research Establishment, Harwell (UKAEA/AERE), and with a certain economic support from the Nordic Liaison Committee for Atomic Energy (NKA). The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development/Nuclear Energy Agency (OECD/NEA) participates in the Secretariat, Kemakta Consultants Co. participates in the Secretariat as principal investigator and the Institute for Energy Technology, Norway (IFE) participates as Nordic representative.

The Parties organize project teams for the actual project work with model calculations. Each Party covers the costs for its participation in the study and is responsible for its project team or teams including computer cost, travelling expences etc.

At suitable time intervals depending upon the progress of the study, workshops are arranged, normally in conjunction with meetings of the Coordinating Group. During the workshops problem definitions and achieved results are discussed as a preparation for decisions in the Coordinating Group.

.

A-1

SURVEY OF ORGANIZATION OF HYDROCOIN

والعربان المعيد بالبار وال



<u>Managing Participant:</u>

SKI

Kemakta

Principal Investigator:

Coordinating Group:

Chairman: Vice chairman: Secretary:

Project Secretariat:

A. Larsson, SKI T. Nicholson, NRC K. Andersson, SKI

K. Andersson, SKI B. Grundfelt, Kemakta D.P. Hodgkinson, AERE A.B. Muller, OECD/NEA U. Tveten, NKA/IFE

LIST OF HYDROCOIN PART	CIPANTS
PARTY AND COORDINATING GROUP MEMBER	PROJECT TEAM(S) AND TEAM LEADERS
Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd (AECL K.W. Dormuth	Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd T. Chan (AECL)
British Geological Survey (865 J.A. Barker	British Geological Survey D. Noy (BGS)
<u>Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique/</u> (CEA/IPSN <u>Institut de Protection et de Súreté Nucléaire</u>	1. <u>Commissariat à l'Energie</u> <u>Atomique</u> (CEA) P. Raimbault
J. Lew1	2. <u>École Nationale Supérieure</u> <u>des Mines de Paris</u> (EDM) P. Goblet
<u>Gesellschaft für Strahlen-</u> (GSF) <u>und Umweltforschung</u> E. Būtow	<u>Technical Univ. of Berlin</u> E. Bûtow (TUB)
Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute (JAERI)	1. Japan At. En. Research Inst. S. Muraoka (JAERI)
H. Nakamura	2. <u>University of Kyoto</u> (UDK) Y. Ohnishi
•	3. <u>Hazamagumi Ltd</u> (HAZA)
-	4. <u>Okumuragumi Ltd</u> (OKUM)
Nationale Genossenshaft für (NAGRA) die Lagerung Radioaktiver Abfälle P. Hufschmied	1. <u>University of Neuchatel</u> (UON) L. Kiraly
	2. <u>Motor Columbus</u> (MCI)
<u>Rijksinstituut voor Volks-</u> (RIVM) <u>aezondheid en Milieuhvaiene</u> P. Glasbergen (Deputy: T. Leijnse)	Rijksinstituut voor Volks- gezondheid en Milieuhygiene P. Glasbergen (RIVM) (Deputy: T. Leijnse)
Swedish Nuclear Fuel(SKB)and Waste Management Co.C. Thegerstrôm	The Roval Institute of (KTH) Technology R. Thunvik
<u>Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate</u> (SKI A. Larsson	Managing Participant.
Technical Research Centre of Finland (VTT) S. Vuori	Tech. Research C. of Finland K. Meling (VTT)
United Kingdom Atomic Energy (UKAEA/AERE Authority/Atomic Energy Research Establishment Harwell	1. Atomic Energy Research Est. D.P. Hodgkinson (AERE) (Deputy: A. Herbert)
D.P. Hodgkinson	2. Atkins Research and (ARD) Development T. Broyd

--A-3 ٠.

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
PARTY AND COORDINATING GROUP MEMBER	•	PROJECT TEAM(S) AND TEAM LEADERS
U.S. Department of Energy	(DOE)	1. Basalt Waste Isolation (BWIP) Project, Rockwell, Hanford
C. Cole		P.H. Clifton
		2. Salt Repository (ONWI)
		Program, Office of Nuclear
		S.K. Gupta
		3. <u>Office of Crystalline</u> (OCRD)
		Repository Development.
		A. Brandstetter
·		4. <u>Tuff Repository</u> (NNWSI)
-		Project, Nevada Nuclear
		N. Hayden
U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission	(NRC)	1. U.S. Nucl. Reg. Commission
T Néabalana		T. McCartin - (NRC)
(Deputy: R. Codell)		2. Sandia National Laboratory
		R. Cranwell (SANDIA(NRC))
Organization for Economic Co-opera- (OE	ECD/NEA)	Member of Secretariat: Org.
tion and Development/Nuclear Energy Age	ency	for Econ. Co-oper. and Dev./
		Inuclear Energy Agency

· 🔺

-

- - - .

- -

APPENDIX B

A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE SEVEN HYDROCOIN LEVEL ONE PROBLEMS ON VERIFICATION AND BENCHMARKING (TAKEN FROM HYDROCOIN PROGRESS REPORT NO. 2)

· · · · · ·

.

<u>Case 1</u> Comparison of numerical solutions with an analytical solution to a problem involving transient flow from a borehole in a permeable medium containing a single fracture. The anticipated situation is given in fig. 1.



- Fig. 1 Schematic diagram of test problem for Case 1.
- <u>Case 2</u> Simulation of steady-state flow in a two-dimensional domain containing two permeable fracture zones. The zones are inclined so that they intersect at a certain depth. The modelled situation is shown in fig. 2.



Fig. 2 The geometry of the modelled domain in Case 2. The thick inclined lines represent fracture zones with higher permeability than the rest of the domain.

<u>Case 3</u> Simulation of partially saturated flow through a sequence of alternating pervious and low permeability sedimentary rocks. The boundary conditions involve a seepage face. The situation is illustrated in fig. 3.



Fig. 3 The geometry assumed for Case 3. The media A and C represent pervious formations whereas media B and D are regarded as relatively impervious. Medium E is used to simulate the seepage face.

<u>Case 4</u> Comparison of analytical and numerical solutions of thermal convection driven flow. The heat is evolved from a spherical source with a decaying heat output. The thermal bouyancy is the only driving force. The case is illustrated in fig. 4.



N

Fig. 4 Representation of the spherical heat source. Shown are also some pathlines starting after 100 years. The numbers represent approximate travel times in thousands of years.

<u>Case 5</u> Simulation of water flow and salt transport in a two-dimensional domain. The fluid density is linearly dependent on the salt concentration. The domain is illustrated in fig. 5.



- Fig. 5 Geometry of the modelled domain. The bottom boundary between the points 5 and 6 is held at a constant salt concentration.
- <u>Case 5</u> Simulation of steady-state flow in a three-dimensional domain representing a generic bedded salt situation. The domain is shown in fig. 6.



Fig. 6 Horizontal (top) and vertical (bottom) view of the modelled domain for Case 6.

<u>Case 7</u> Simulation of steady-state flow through a shallow land burial site in argillaceous media. The calculations involve saturated flow and the modelling of a seepage face. The modelled domain is shown in fig. 7.



Fig. 7 Schematic diagram of the domain modelled in Case 7. The striped rectangles represent the repository and anti-inter-vention lids of concrete.

APPENDIX C

TABLE OF CONTENTS FROM THE PROCEEDINGS OF THE SYMPOSIUM ON GROUNDWATER FLOW AND TRANSPORT MODELING FOR PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF DEEP GEOLOGICAL DISPOSAL OF RADIOACTIVE WASTE: A CRITICAL EVALUATION OF THE STATE OF THE ART

· · · · · ·

.

.

CONTENTS

SESSION I - PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT I CHAIRMAN: Mr. Alf Larsson, Swedish Nuc Power Inspectorate	clear	
SECTION 1 - APPROACHES TO MODEL GROUNDWATER FLOW AN TRANSPORT AT A GERMAN SALT DOME E. Butow, L. Heredia, S. Lutkemeier-Hos S. Struck	ND RADIONUCLIDE sseinpour,	5
SECTION 2 - METHODOLOGY DEVELOPED AT THE CEA/IPSN F PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF NUCLEAR WASTE GEOLOGICAL FORMATIONS P. Raimbault, J. Lewi	FOR LONG-TERM E REPOSITORIES IN 1	.7
SECTION 3 - DEVELOPMENT OF PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT M FOR NUCLEAR WASTE ISOLATION IN GEOLOGIC E. J. Bonano, M. S. Y. Chu, R. M. Cranv P. A. Davis.	METHODOLOGY C MEDIA well, and 2	27
SECTION 4 - PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT: A PEER REVIEW J. A. Lieberman, W. WL. Lee		3
SECTION 5 - CHAMPA COMPUTER CODE FOR MODELING TRA FLOW AND CHEMICAL TRANSPORT WITH HYDROU IN VARIABLY SATURATED SYSTEMS T. Narasimhan, M. Alavi, and C. W. Lij	ANSIENT FLUID DYNAMIC DISPERSION 5	5
SECTION 6 - THE SYVAC APPROACH FOR LONG-TERM ENVIRO ASSESSMENTS B. W. Goodwin	ONMENTAL 	51
SECTION 7 - IMPROVED SITE CHARACTERIZATION USING MU T. C. Rasmussen	ULTIPLE APPROACHES	1
SESSION II - GROUNDWATER Chairman: Mr. David Hodgkinson, Atom Establishment (AERE), Harwell	ic Energy Research	
SECTION 8 - GROUNDWATER FLOW MODELLING IN CANADA'S FUEL WASTE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM V. Guvanasen, N. W. Scheier, T. Chan	NUCLEAR 11	.9
SECTION 9 - FLUID FLOW IN A FRACTURED, ROCK MASS E. A. Klavetter, R. R. Peters	13	31

SECTION	10 -	THE EFFECT OF PERCOLATION RATE ON WATER-TRAVEL TIME IN DEEP, PARTIALLY SATURATED ZONES R. R. Peters, J. H. Gauthier, A. L. Dudley	187
SECTION	11 -	A HYBRID APPROACH TO UNCERTAINTY IN FAR-FIELD GROUNDWATER FLOW J. L. Devary, S. K. Gupta, W. V. Harper, C. R. Cole, and F. L. Thompson	233
SECTION	12 -	A PRELIMINARY SIMULATION MODEL TO DETERMINE GROUND-WATER FLOW AND AGES WITHIN THE PALO DURO BASIN HYDROGEOLOGIC PROVINCE H. Atwood, L. Picking	259
SECTION	13 -	INTERPRETATION OF GROUND-WATER TRAVEL TIME FOR HIGH LEVEL WASTE REPOSITORIES R. Codell	279
SECTION	14 -	SENSITIVITY OF CALCULATED HYDROLOGICAL FLOWS THROUGH MULTILAYERED HARD ROCK TO COMPUTATIONAL SOLUTION PROCEDURES N. E. Bixler, R. R. Eaton	283
SESSION	III ·	- TRANSPORT CHAIRMAN: Mr. Kjell Andersson, Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate	
SECTION	15 -	THE USE OF THE PHREEQE CODE IN MODELLING ENVIRONMENTAL GEOCHEMICAL PROBLEMS ENCOUNTERED IN PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT MODELLING A. B. Muller, D. L. Parkhurst, P. W. Tasker	303
SECTION	16 -	A PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT OF RADIONUCLIDE VAPOR PHASE TRANSPORT IN UNSATURATED TUFF D. M. Smith, C. D. Updegraff, E. J. Bonano	323
SESSION	IV -	PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT II CHAIRMAN: Mr. Bertil Grundfelt, Kemakta Consultants Co. and Mr. Tom Nicholson, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission	
SECTION	17 -	PREDICTIVE RELIABILITY FOR PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT T. Pigford	341
SECTION	18 -	APPLICATION OF ADJOINT SENSITIVITY THEORY TO PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF HYDROGEOLOGIC CONCERNS D. E. Metcalfe, W. V. Harper, S. K. Gupta	345

•

-

.

SECTION 19	- DISCRETIZATION PROBLEMS IN THE SIMULATION OF RADIONUCLIDE TRANSFER IN GEOLOGIC MEDIA P. Goblet	369
SECTION 20	 SOME CURRENT PROBLEMS IN GROUNDWATER FLOW AND RADIONUCLIDE TRANSPORT MODELLING A. W. Herbert, D. P. Hodgkinson, C. P. Jackson, D. A. Lever, J. Rae, P. C. Robinson, S. M. Sharland, P. W. Tasker	383
SECTION 21	- LESSONS LEARNED IN THE VERIFICATION, VALIDATION AND APPLICATION OF A COUPLED HEAT AND FLUID FLOW CODE C. F. Tsang	411
SECTION 22	- BENCHMARKING NNWSI FLOW AND TRANSPORT CODES: CURRENT RESULTS AND ACTIVITIES N. Hayden, J. Braithwaite, B. Langkopf	421
SECTION 23	- CHANNELING, MATRIX DIFFUSION AND REDOX CAPACITY IN CRYSTALLINE ROCK - SOME QUESTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE GEOLOGIC BARRIER I. Neretnieks	447
SECTION 24	- GEOCHEMICAL SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS FOR PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT OF HLW REPOSITORIES: EFFECTS OF SPECIATION AND MATRIX DIFFUSION M. D. Siegel and K. L. Erickson	465
SECTION 25	- THE DEGREE OF COMPLEXITY OF GEOHYDROLOGICAL MODELS USED IN PERFORMANCE ASSESSMENT P. Glasbergen	491
SECTION 26	- UNCERTAINTY ASSESSMENT FOR FLUID FLOW AND CONTAMINANT TRANSPORT MODELING IN HETEROGENEOUS GROUNDWATER SYSTEMS R. W. Nelson, E. A. Jacobson, W. Conberg	499
SECTION 27	- GENERAL DISCUSSION S. P. Neuman	529
APPENDIX -	INTRACOIN, HYDROCOIN, AND A PROPOSED PROJECT FOR EVALUATING THE VALIDITY OF DIFFERENT MATHEMATICAL MODELS THAT DESCRIBE THE TRANSPORT OF RADIONUCLIDES IN THE GEOSPHERE.	Δ 1

DISTRIBUTION

No. of Copies

OFFSITE

D. H. Alexander Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management RW-23 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

Gordon Appel U.S. Department of Energy Salt Repository Project Office 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

Richard Baker U.S. Department of Energy Chicago Operations Office 6800 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

Carl R. Cooley Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management RW-43 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

N. A. Eisenberg Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management RW-24 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

Steven Frank Office of Environmental Compliance PE-252 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

J. O. Neff U.S. Department of Energy Salt Repository Project Office 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

No. of Copies

Ned Patera U.S. Department of Energy Chicago Operations Office 6800 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

John Rotert U.S. Department of Energy Nevada Operations Office Post Office Box 14100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89114-4100

Ben C. Rusche, Director Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management RW-24 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

Ralph Stein Office of Civilian Radioactive Waste Management RW-24 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

Donald L. Vieth U.S. Department of Energy Nevada Operations Office Post Office Box 14100 Las Vegas, Nevada 89114-4100

William R. Voigt, Jr., Director Office of Terminal Waste Disposal and Remedial Action NE-20 U.S. Department of Energy Washington, D.C. 20545

30 DOE Technical Information Center

R. D. Aines University of California Lawrence Livermore Laboratory Livermore, CA 94550

Mohsen Alavi Earth Sciences Division Bldg. 50E Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Berkeley, CA 94720

Kjell Andersson Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Box 27106 S-10252 Stockholm Sweden

Anthony Andrews Battelle Office of Crystalline Repository Development 9800 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

Bob Andrews INTERA Technologies 11999 Katy Freeway Houston, TX 77079

Heather Atwood Stone & Webster Engineering Corporation 245 Summer Street Boston, MA 02107

F. Bingham Sandia National Laboratories Post Office Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Nathan Bixler Organization 1511 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

No. of Copies

Peter Bogorinski Gesellschaft Fur Reaktor Sicherheit Schwertnergasse 1 5000 Koln 1, Federal Republic of Germany

E. J. Bonano Division 6431 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Albin Brandsetter Battelle Office of Crystalline Repository Development 9800 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

Ken Brinster Science Applications International Corp. 505 Marquette Avenue NW Albuquerque, NM 87102

Tim Broyd Atkins R & D Woodcote Grove Ashley Road Epsom, Surrey KT18 6BW England, United Kingdom

Rosemary Buden Science Applications International Corp. 505 Marquette Albuquerque, NM 87102

Eckart Butow GSF Technische Universitat Berlin Institut fur Kerntechnik Marchst 18 D-1000 Berlin 10 Federal Republic of Germany

Tin Chan Atomic Energy of Canada WNRE, Station 40 Pinawa, Manitoba ROE1LO CANADA

James K. Channell NM Environmental Evaluation Group P.O. Box 968 Santa Fe, NM 87303

Richard Codell U.S. NRC Washington D.C. 20555

Robert M. Cranwell Sandia National Laboratories Division 6431 P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Paul Davis Sandia National Laboratories Division 6431 P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

J. L. Devenport USACE P.O. Box 1580 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Alan Dudley Spectra Research Institute 1709 Moon Street NE P.O. Box 11625 Albuquerque, NM 87192

Roger R. Eaton Organization 1511 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 No. of Copies Peter Glasbergen National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Hygeine (RIVM) P.O. Box 450 2260 AD Leidschendam The Netherlands Patrick Goblet Ecole Des Mines 35 rue Saint Honore 77305 Fontainbleau France Bruce Goodwin Whiteshell Nuclear Research Establishment Pinawa, Manitoba, Canada ROE 1LO Bertil Grundfelt Kemakta Consultants Co. Luntmakargatan 94 S-11351 Stockholm Sweden Sumant Gupta Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation Battelle Project Management Division Columbus, OH 43201 A. Berge Gureghian Battelle Office of Crystalline Repository Development 9800 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

V. Guvanasen Geotrans, Inc. 203 Elden Street, Suite 301 Herndon, VA 22170

William Harper Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation Battelle Project Management Division Columbus, OH 43201

Wyman Harrison Argonne National Laboratory 6700 South Cass Avenue Argonne, IL 60439

Nancy Hayden Sandia National Laboratories NNWSI Performance Assessment Organization 6312 P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Alan Herbert Theoretical Physics Division AERE Harwell Oxfordshire OX11 ORA United Kingdom

J. S. Herman Dept. of Environmental Sciences University of Virginia Charlottesville, VA 22903

David Hodgkinson Theoretical Physics Division AERE Harwell Oxfordshire OX11 ORA United Kingdom

Polly Hopkins Organization 1511 Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, NM 87185

Peter Hufschmied Nationale Genossenschaft fur die Lagerung radioalchiver Abfalle Partstrasse 23 CH - 5401 Baden Switzerland No. of Copies

> T. O. Hunter Sandia National Laboratories Post Office Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 Hideo Kimura HLW Lab Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute (JAERI) Tokai-mura, Naka-gun, Ibaraki-ken Japan 319-11 J. F. Kircher Battelle Memorial Institute Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201 B. Klaits Disposal Safety Incorporated 1211 Connecticut Avenue NW Suite 610 Washington, D.C. 20036 Elmer Klavetter Sandia National Laboratories Division 6313 Albuquerque, NM 87185 Dave Kocher Oak Ridge National Laboratory Post Office Box X Oak Ridge, TN 37830 Alf Larsson Swedish Nuclear Power Inspectorate Box 27106 S-102 52 Stockholm Sweden W. W-L. Lee University of California Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory Berkeley, CA 94720

<u>Copies</u> Toon Leijnse National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Hygeine (RIVM) P.O. Box 450 2260 AD Leidschendam The Netherlands Y. T. Lin Division 6315

No. of

Division 6315 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Bjorn Lindbom Kemakta Consultant Co. Luntmakargatan 94 S-11351 Stockholm Sweden

Tim McCartin U.S. NRC Washington D.C. 20555

Kurt Meling Technical Research Centre of Finland Nuclear Engineering Laboratory Lonnrotineatu 37 P.O. Box 169 SF-00181 Helsinki, Finland

Dave Michlewicz Weston 955 L'Enfant Plaza Washington, D.C. 20024

Amy M. Monti ONWI - BPMD Battelle 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201 No. of Copies

> Anthony Muller OECD Nuclear Energy Agency 38 Blvd Suchet 75016 Paris France Haruto Nakamura Japan Atomic Energy Research Institute Chief, HLW Management Research Lab Div. of Environmental Safety Research Tokai-mura, Naka-gun Ibaraki-ken Japan T. N. Narasimhan Earch Sciences Division B1dg. 50E Lawrence Berkeley Lab Berkeley, CA 94720 Thomas G. Naymik 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201

Ivars Neretnieks Dep. Chemical Engineering Royal Institute of Technology S-10044 Stockholm Sweden

Thomas J. Nicholson U.S. NRC Earth Sciences Branch Washington, D.C. 20555

Dave Noy British Geological Survey Keyworth, Nottinghamshire United Kingdom

> Richard Paige Atkins R & D Woodcote Grove Ashley Road Epsom, Surrey England, United Kingdom

Ralph Peters Sandia National Laboratories Division 6312 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Larry Picking Stone & Webster Engineering Corporation 245 Summer Street Boston, MA 02107

Dr. Thomas H. Pigford Dept. of Nuclear Engineering University of California Elcheverry Hall, Room 4153 Berkeley, CA 94720

Robert W. Prindle Sandia National Laboratories Organization 6312 P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Philippe Raimbault CEA/PSH SAED/SASICC-DAS CEN FAR BP.6 92260 Fontencey aux Roses France

T. Rasmussen University of Arizona Hydrology Department Tuscon, Arizona 85719 No. of Copies

> Dr. Daniel C. Reda Fluid & Thermal Sciences Department, 1512 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 B. Ross Disposal Safety Incorporated 1211 Connecticut Avenue NW Suite 610 Washington, D.C. 20036 Gene Runkle USDOE/AL ESHD P.O. Box 5400 Albuquerque, NM 87115 Joe Saloio International Energy Associates 1717 Louisiana Avenue Suite 202 Albuquerque, NM 87110 Chris Sankey US DOE WIPP Project Site P.O. Box 3090 Carlsbad, NM 88221 Nick Scheier Atomic Energy of Canada WNRE, Station 40 Pinawa, Manitoba ROE1LO Canada J. A. Schutt Division 1513 Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, NM 87185

13 .

Rainer Senger Bureau of Economic Geology University of Texas at Austin University Box X Austin, TX 78713

Malcolm Siegel Division 6431 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185

Douglas Smith Department of Chemical Engineering University of New Mexico Albuquerque, NM 87131

Ellen Smith Oak Ridge National Laboratory Post Office Box X Oak Ridge, TN 37830

A. Sutherland Rogers & Associates Eng. Corp. Post Office Box 330 Salt Lake City, UT 84110

Michael Teubner Science Applications 2769 South Highland Las Vegas, NV 89190

Claes Thegerstrom Swedish Nuclear Fuel and Waste Management Co., SKB Box 5864 10248 Stockholm Sweden

Roger Thunvik Royal Institute of Technology Department Land Improvement and Drainage S-100 44 Stockholm Sweden No. of Copies M. Tierney Sandia National Laboratories Post Office Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87185 Chin-Fu Tsang Earth Sciences Division Lawrence Berkeley Lab 1 Cyclotron Road Berkeley, CA 94720 Ulf Tveten Institute for Energy Technology N-2007 Kjeller Norway Scott Tyler Desert Research Institute 2505 Chandler #1 Las Vegas, NV Seppo Vuori Technical Research Centre of Finland Nuclear Engineering Laboratory Lonnrotineatu 37 P.O. Box 169 SF-00181 Helsinki, Finland J. A. Waddell Battelle Memorial Institute Office of Nuclear Waste Isolation 505 King Avenue Columbus, OH 43201 Gill Weigard Organization 1511 Sandia National Laboratories P.O. Box 5800 Albuquerque, NM 87.185 Jack Wittman HLNW Office

101 State Capitol Bldg.

Salt Lake City, UT 84114

James R. Wolf Office of the Executive Legal Director U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Mail Stop: MNB-9604 Washington, DC 20555

ONSITE

- 4 DOE Richland Operations Office
 - D. E. Crouter (2) R. D. Izatt J. J. Sutey

5 Rockwell Hanford Operations

M. S. Bensky P. Clifton B. Sagar P. S. Salter J. S. Thies

No. of Copies

oopie

.

29 Pacific Northwest Laboratory

1 . e . _

M. K. Altenhofen M. J. Apted W. W. Ballard D. J. Bradley C. R. Cole (5) P. B. Doctor D. W. Dragnich M. G. Foley J. S. Fruchter L. K. Grove J. M. Hales P. C. Hays K. M. Harmon A. M. Liebetrau J. A. Stottlemyre A. E. Van Luik R. E. Wildung S. Yabusaki Publishing Coordination (2) Technical Information (5)

· · · · · ·